





Newer biomarker-based prediction of atherosclerosis risk

Hyeok-Hee Lee

Department of Medicine The Graduate School, Yonsei University



Newer biomarker-based prediction of atherosclerosis risk

Directed by Professor Hyeon Chang Kim

The Doctoral Dissertation submitted to the Department of Medicine, the Graduate School of Yonsei University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Medical Science

Hyeok-Hee Lee

December 2023



This certifies that the Doctoral Dissertation of Hyeok-Hee Lee is approved.

Thesis Supervisor: Hyeon Chang Kim

Thesis Committee Member#1: Sungha Park

Thesis Committee Member#2: Hokyou Lee

Thesis Committee Member#3: Jong-Chan Youn

Thesis Committee Member#4: Yong-Ho Lee

The Graduate School Yonsei University

December 2023



<TABLE OF CONTENTS>

ABSTRACT······v
I. INTRODUCTION ······ 1
II. MATERIALS AND METHODS ······ 4
1. Data source ······ 4
2. Study population 5
3. Data collection ····· 7
4. Study outcomes ····· 8
5. Statistical analysis ····· 8
III. RESULTS 13
1. Baseline cohort and biomarker characteristics
2. Predictive utility of Angiopoietin-related biomarkers
3. Angiopoietin-based subclinical atherosclerosis risk prediction models \cdots 27
IV. DISCUSSION
1. Principal findings of the study
2. Clinical implications of the findings
3. Future perspectives ······ 38
4. Study strengths and limitations
V. CONCLUSION

REFERENCES	42
APPENDICES	50
ABSTRACT (IN KOREAN)	66
PUBLICATION LIST	68



LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Study flowchart 6
Figure 2. Distributions of continuous traditional risk factors
Figure 3. Distributions of serum Angiopoietin-related biomarker levels
Figure 4. Pairwise correlation between Angiopoietin-related biomarkers
Figure 5. Associations of Angiopoietin-related biomarkers with severe coronary atherosclerosis and coronary atherosclerosis 18
Figure 6. Calibration plots of the models for severe coronary atherosclerosis 26
Figure 7. Calibration plots of the models for coronary atherosclerosis 26
Figure 8. Calibration plots of the risk prediction models for severe coronary atherosclerosis
Figure 9. Calibration plots of the risk prediction models for coronary atherosclerosis
Figure 10. Categorization of subclinical atherosclerosis risk using the integer risk score



LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.	Sensitivity and reliability of the assays for Angiopoietin-related biomarkers7
Table 2.	Baseline characteristics of the participants14
Table 3.	Associations of traditional risk factors with Angiopoietin- related biomarkers
Table 4.	Binary cut-offs for Angiopoietin-related biomarkers18
Table 5.	Associations of Angiopoietin-related biomarkers and traditional risk factors with severe coronary atherosclerosis \cdot 19
Table 6.	Associations of Angiopoietin-related biomarkers and traditional risk factors with coronary atherosclerosis
Table 7.	Improvement in risk discrimination for severe coronary atherosclerosis
Table 8.	Improvement in risk discrimination for coronary atherosclerosis
Table 9.	Improvement in risk stratification for severe coronary atherosclerosis
Table 10	Improvement in risk stratification for coronary atherosclerosis
Table 11	. Improvement in risk discrimination for severe coronary atherosclerosis across subgroups



Table 12.	Improvement in risk discrimination for coronary atherosclerosis across subgroups 2	4
Table 13.	C-indexes of risk prediction models for severe coronary atherosclerosis in internal and holdout validation 2	8
Table 14.	C-indexes of risk prediction models for coronary atherosclerosis in internal and holdout validation	1
Table 15.	Integer risk score for severe coronary atherosclerosis	2
Table 16.	Integer risk score for coronary atherosclerosis	3



ABSTRACT

Newer biomarker-based prediction of atherosclerosis risk

Hyeok-Hee Lee

Department of Medicine The Graduate School, Yonsei University

(Directed by Professor Hyeon Chang Kim)

Background: Angiopoietin-1 and its receptor, tunica interna endothelial cell kinase 2 (Tie-2), maintain endothelial integrity and homeostasis, while Angiopoietin-2 counteracts these effects. Given their biological actions, Angiopoietin-2, Angiopoietin-1, and soluble Tie-2 may have the potential to serve as predictive biomarkers for subclinical atherosclerosis. In this prospective ancillary study of the Cardiovascular and Metabolic Diseases Etiology Research Center (CMERC) and CMERC High-Risk (CMERC-HI) cohorts, we aimed to (1) construct a biomarker subcohort for the exploration of Angiopoietin-related biomarkers (i.e., Angiopoietin-2, Angiopoietin-1, and soluble Tie-2); (2) delineate the baseline characteristics of these biomarkers; (3) examine whether these biomarkers improve risk prediction for subclinical atherosclerosis beyond traditional risk factors; and (4) develop and validate subclinical atherosclerosis risk prediction models using these biomarkers.

Methods: We enrolled a total of 924 participants from the CMERC and CMERC-HI cohorts between 2021 and 2023. Data on traditional risk factors, including age, sex, current smoking, systolic blood pressure, blood pressure-lowering drug use, diabetes, total and high-density lipoprotein cholesterol levels, and lipid-lowering drug use, were collected at baseline. Serum levels of Angiopoietin-related biomarkers were measured using enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay from the blood samples collected at baseline. The coronary artery calcium (CAC) was measured by cardiac computed tomography; the CAC score was



calculated using the Agatston method. The primary measures of subclinical atherosclerosis were severe coronary atherosclerosis (defined as a CAC score >400) and coronary atherosclerosis (defined as a CAC score >0). The predictive performance of the models was evaluated using the Harrell's C-index, Hosmer-Lemeshow chi-square statistic, and calibration plot. The additive utility of Angiopoietin-related biomarkers beyond traditional risk factors was assessed using the Δ C-index, continuous net reclassification improvement (cNRI), and integrated discrimination improvement (IDI). We developed subclinical atherosclerosis risk prediction models incorporating Angiopoietin-related biomarkers (Angiopoietin-based prediction models) and performed internal and holdout validation.

Results: Of the 924 participants (median age, 62 years; 60.5% female), severe coronary atherosclerosis (CAC score >400) and coronary atherosclerosis (CAC score >0) were present in 60 (6.5%) and 390 (42.2%) participants, respectively. Angiopoietin-related biomarkers showed a poor correlation with each other and weak or no association with traditional risk factors. Angiopoietin-related biomarkers significantly improved risk discrimination and stratification for both severe coronary atherosclerosis (Δ C-index, 0.019-0.030; cNRI, 0.46-0.53; IDI, 0.037-0.061) and coronary atherosclerosis (Δ C-index, 0.007-0.014; cNRI, 0.18-0.20; IDI, 0.011-0.023) when added to traditional risk factor-based models. The Angiopoietin-based prediction models showed good discrimination in internal validation (C-index, 0.678-0.791). The predicted probabilities were in good agreement with the observed probabilities. Integer risk scores for subclinical atherosclerosis were also developed and showed satisfactory performance (C-index, 0.790-0.837).

Conclusion: Angiopoietin-related biomarkers significantly improved risk prediction for subclinical atherosclerosis when added to traditional risk factor-based models. Angiopoietin-based prediction models, as well as integer risk scores, showed good predictive performance. The newly developed prediction models are expected to be utilized



for identifying high-risk populations for the primary prevention of cardiovascular disease (CVD) and for surveilling individuals with a CAC score of 0. Whether Angiopoietinrelated biomarkers improve risk prediction for clinical CVD events needs to be determined in future studies.

Key words: Angiopoietin; atherosclerosis; coronary artery calcium; prediction



Newer biomarker-based prediction of atherosclerosis risk

Hyeok-Hee Lee

Department of Medicine The Graduate School, Yonsei University

(Directed by Professor Hyeon Chang Kim)

I. INTRODUCTION

Cardiovascular disease (CVD) is the leading cause of death worldwide and the second leading cause of death in Korea.^{1,2} Atherosclerotic CVD, which includes ischemic heart disease and stroke, constitutes the majority of CVD events. As the population ages, the burden of atherosclerotic CVD is rapidly increasing in Korea; between 2002 and 2018, the hospitalization rate for ischemic heart disease increased 2.6-fold (from 146 to 383 hospitalizations per 100,000 persons) and that for stroke increased 2.9-fold (from 183 to 523 hospitalizations per 100,000 persons).³

Preventing disease in the general population (i.e., primary prevention) is one of the core strategies for reducing the disease burden. However, the scarcity of dedicated cohorts and a lower absolute risk of atherosclerotic CVD in Korea than in Western populations present significant challenges when conducting prospective studies on atherosclerotic CVD events in Korea. In this regard, subclinical atherosclerosis, which represents an earlier, subclinical phase of overt CVD events, has been widely recognized as a surrogate for atherosclerotic CVD and used as such in various studies.^{4,5} Not only is the presence of subclinical atherosclerosis strongly associated with incident atherosclerotic CVD risk,⁶⁻⁸



but its prevention and early detection through accurate risk assessment may create opportunities for interventions to deter atherosclerotic CVD events earlier in their course.⁹

The development and progression of atherosclerosis is largely affected by cardiovascular risk factors, including tobacco smoking, high blood pressure, diabetes, and high blood lipids.¹⁰⁻¹⁵ These risk factors can explain a significant portion of an individual's risk of atherosclerosis and be used for its prediction. However, given the complex molecular and biological pathways underlying atherosclerosis,¹⁶ the accuracy of atherosclerosis prediction is expected to be further improved by using the biomarkers involved in these pathways.^{5,16-23}

Angiopoietins are a group of growth factors that contribute to the regulation of vascular functions and consist of Angiopoietin-1, Angiopoietin-2, and Angiopoietin-4.²⁴ Angiopoietin-1, together with its receptor tunica interna endothelial cell kinase 2 (Tie-2), maintains endothelial quiescence and promotes vascular integrity through its effect on vascular remodeling and inflammation and endothelial cell migration.¹⁹ Angiopoietin-2 is a competitive inhibitor of Angiopoietin-1 and counteracts these effects, thereby disrupting vascular stability and homeostasis.¹⁹ Given their biological actions, Angiopoietin-2, Angiopoietin-1, and soluble Tie-2 may have the potential to serve as predictive biomarkers for subclinical atherosclerosis.

It has been reported that the levels of Angiopoietin-related biomarkers (i.e., Angiopoietin-2, Angiopoietin-1, and soluble Tie-2) are altered and associated with clinical outcomes in conditions related to vascular endothelial dysfunction, such as myocardial ischemia,²⁵ cardiogenic shock,^{26,27} kidney failure,^{28,29} sepsis,^{30,31} and acute lung injury.^{32,33} However, the associations of Angiopoietin-related biomarkers with subclinical atherosclerosis are yet to be elucidated. The understanding of these associations may not



only facilitate the accurate prediction of subclinical atherosclerosis risk but also provide deeper mechanistic insights into the role of Angiopoietin-related biomarkers in the development and progression of atherosclerosis.

In this prospective ancillary study of the Cardiovascular and Metabolic Diseases Etiology Research Center (CMERC) and CMERC High-Risk (CMERC-HI) cohorts, we aimed to (1) construct a biomarker subcohort for the exploration of Angiopoietin-related biomarkers; (2) delineate the baseline characteristics of these biomarkers; (3) examine whether these biomarkers improve risk prediction for subclinical atherosclerosis beyond traditional risk factors; and (4) develop and validate subclinical atherosclerosis risk prediction models using these biomarkers.



II. MATERIALS AND METHODS

1. Data source

The primary data sources of the current study were the CMERC and CMERC-HI cohorts. The CMERC and CMERC-HI are prospective, multicenter, observational studies in South Korea designed to identify novel risk factors of CVD and develop evidence-based strategies for its prevention.

In the CMERC cohort, a total of 8,097 community-dwelling adults aged 30 to 64 years and free of CVD were recruited between December 2013 and March 2018. Further details of the database have been previously published.^{34,35}

In the CMERC-HI cohort, a total of 3,267 adults aged 20 to 80 years and at a high risk of, but without, CVD were recruited between December 2013 and June 2018 (ClinicalTrials.gov identifier: NCT02003781). The inclusion criteria of the CMERC-HI were: (1) high-risk hypertension; (2) carotid intima-media thickness \geq 0.9 mm or carotid plaque; (3) ankle-brachial index <0.9; (4) abdominal aortic aneurysm with a diameter >3 cm; (5) electrocardiographic or echocardiographic left ventricular hypertrophy; (6) atrial fibrillation with a CHA₂DS₂-VASc score \geq 1; (7) asymptomatic old cerebrovascular accident or coronary artery disease; (8) family history of premature myocardial infarction at age <55 years for males and <65 years for females; (9) albuminuria with diabetes; (10) early morning spot urine albumin-creatinine ratio \geq 30 mg/g within 6 months; (11) stage 1 or 2 chronic kidney disease with target organ damage; (12) stage 3 or higher chronic kidney disease; (13) end-stage kidney disease under chronic dialysis or at kidney transplantation status for >3 months; (14) retinopathy on fundoscopy; and (15) aged \geq 40 years with rheumatoid arthritis under methotrexate or steroid therapy. The exclusion criteria were: (1) acute coronary syndrome; (2) symptomatic coronary artery disease; (3) symptomatic



peripheral artery disease; (4) symptomatic heart failure; (5) life expectancy <6 months due to severe, non-cardiovascular diseases; (6) pregnancy or breastfeeding status; and (7) contrast allergy.

This study complied with the Declaration of Helsinki; the study protocol was approved by the Institutional Review Board of Severance Hospital, Seoul, Korea (4-2023-1160). Written informed consent was obtained from all participants prior to the baseline examination.

2. Study population

We constructed biomarker subcohorts within the CMERC and CMERC-HI cohorts as detailed below.

A. Biomarker subcohort 1

Of the 8,097 participants in the CMERC cohort, we enrolled 760 individuals in our biomarker substudy between July 15, 2022, and April 11, 2023. These participants underwent baseline health examinations at enrollment. After excluding those with missing data on traditional risk factors (N=8) or who did not undergo cardiac computed tomography (CT) scan at baseline examination (N=2), a final analytical sample of 750 participants resulted (biomarker subcohort 1; Figure 1).

B. Biomarker subcohort 2

Of the 3,267 participants in the CMERC-HI cohort, we enrolled 228 individuals in our biomarker substudy between June 23, 2021, and January 14, 2022. These participants had undergone baseline health examinations between December 18,



2013, and June 28, 2018 (CMERC-HI baseline examination). After excluding those with missing data on traditional risk factors (N=25) or who did not undergo cardiac CT scan at baseline examination (N=29), a final analytical sample of 174 participants resulted (biomarker subcohort 2; Figure 1).

C. Primary biomarker subcohort

The primary biomarker subcohort consisted of a total of 924 participants, 750 from the biomarker subcohort 1 and 174 from the biomarker subcohort 2 (Figure 1).



Figure 1. Study flowchart. CMERC, Cardiovascular and Metabolic Diseases Etiology Research Center; CMERC-HI, Cardiovascular and Metabolic Diseases Etiology Research Center High-Risk; CT, computed tomography.



3. Data collection

A. Traditional risk factors

Data on age, sex, smoking status (current vs. past or never), systolic blood pressure (BP), BP-lowering drug use, diabetes, total cholesterol and high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C) levels, and lipid-lowering drug use were collected during respective baseline examinations in each subcohort.

B. Angiopoietin-related biomarkers

Serum levels of Angiopoietin-2, Angiopoietin-1, and soluble Tie-2 were measured with the use of enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN, USA). According to the manufacturer, the lower limit of detection is 8.29 pg/mL for Angiopoietin-2, 3.45 pg/mL for Angiopoietin-1, and 0.014 ng/mL for soluble Tie-2. These assays showed excellent reliability; the intraclass correlation coefficients (95% confidence intervals [CIs]) were 0.94 (0.88-0.97) for Angiopoietin-2, 0.98 (0.96-0.99) for Angiopoietin-1, and 0.09 (0.97-0.99) for soluble Tie-2 in our batch sample (N=36) (Table 1).

Table 1. Sensitivity and reliability of the assays for Angiopoietin-related biomarkers

Biomarker	LLD^*	ICC (95% CI) [†]
Angiopoietin-2	8.29 pg/mL	0.94 (0.88-0.97)
Angiopoietin-1	3.45 pg/mL	0.98 (0.96-0.99)
Soluble Tie-2	0.014 ng/mL	0.99 (0.97-0.99)

*Indicated by the manufacturer. [†]Assessed by repeated measurements in a batch sample (N=36). CI, confidence interval; ICC, intraclass correlation coefficient; LLD, lower limit of detection; Tie-2, tunica interna endothelial cell kinase 2.



In the biomarker subcohort 1, serum levels of Angiopoietin-related biomarkers were measured from fresh blood samples collected during the baseline examination. In the biomarker subcohort 2, the levels were measured from frozen blood samples collected during the baseline examination.

C. Coronary artery calcium (CAC) score

Cardiac CT scans were performed to measure CAC during respective baseline examinations in each subcohort. CAC scores were calculated by independent radiologists at Severance Hospital, Seoul, Korea using the Agatston method.³⁶ In the biomarker subcohort 2, all but 1 of the participants (173 [99.4%]) underwent follow-up cardiac CT scans after a median follow-up of 5.3 [interquartile range, 4.4-6.8] years.

4. Study outcomes

The primary measures of subclinical atherosclerosis were: (1) severe coronary atherosclerosis, defined as a CAC score >400; and (2) coronary atherosclerosis, defined as a CAC score >0. The secondary measures were: (1) log-transformed CAC score, defined as log (CAC+1); and (2) coronary atherosclerosis progression, defined as any increase in CAC score during the follow-up among those with available data.

5. Statistical analysis

All statistical analyses were performed using R version 4.0.3 (R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria).



A. Baseline cohort and biomarker characteristics

Baseline characteristics of the participants were presented as median [interquartile range] or number (%) as appropriate. The distributions of continuous variables, including the biomarker levels, were visually inspected using distribution plots. Variables with right-skewed distributions were log-transformed. Age was also log-transformed despite its left-skewed distribution to maximize comparability with contemporary 10-year atherosclerotic CVD risk models.³⁷⁻³⁹ Pairwise correlations between serum levels of Angiopoietin-related biomarkers were visualized using scatter plots and quantified by Spearman's rank correlation.

The associations between traditional risk factors and serum levels of Angiopoietin-related biomarkers were assessed by linear regression models. The associations of serum biomarker levels with primary atherosclerosis measures (i.e., severe coronary atherosclerosis and coronary atherosclerosis) were assessed using logistic regression models. To account for potential non-linearity in the associations, restricted cubic spline terms were placed on the biomarker levels with 4 knots at the 5th, 35th, 65th, and 95th percentiles. Because there existed signs of non-linearity, we defined binary cut-offs for the biomarker levels based on Youden's index.

B. Predictive utility of Angiopoietin-related biomarkers

Models for predicting primary atherosclerosis measures were developed by logistic regression analysis. The traditional risk factor-based models included age, sex, current smoking, systolic BP, BP-lowering drug use, diabetes, and total cholesterol and HDL-C levels—the same variables as those included in contemporary 10-year atherosclerotic CVD risk models³⁷⁻³⁹—as well as lipid-lowering drug use. The



biomarker-added models further included Angiopoietin-related biomarker levels on top of the traditional risk factor-based models.

We assessed models' discriminative capacity with Harrell's C-index and calibration with Hosmer-Lemeshow chi-square statistic and calibration plot of predicted vs. observed probabilities.⁴⁰ The additive utility of Angiopoietin-related biomarkers for predicting subclinical atherosclerosis was assessed by comparing traditional risk factor-based models with biomarker-added models—the changes in C-index (Δ C-index), continuous net reclassification improvement (cNRI), and integrated discrimination improvement (IDI) were calculated.^{18,41-43}

In subgroup analyses, participants were stratified by age (<65 vs. \geq 65 years), sex, hypertension, diabetes, lipid-lowering drug use, subcohort (1 vs. 2), and 10-year atherosclerotic CVD risk (<7.5 vs. 7.5-<10 vs. \geq 10% for severe coronary atherosclerosis; <2.5 vs. 2.5-<5 vs. \geq 5% for coronary atherosclerosis). The main analyses were also repeated for secondary atherosclerosis measures (i.e., log-transformed CAC score and coronary atherosclerosis progression). Models for log-transformed CAC score were developed by linear regression analysis, with an adjusted R² assessed as a performance metric for goodness of fit.

We conducted two sensitivity analyses. First, we constructed expanded traditional risk factor-based models by further including weekly minutes of moderate-to-vigorous physical activity, waist circumference, estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR) (calculated using the Chronic Kidney Disease Epidemiology Collaboration equation developed in 2009),⁴⁴ and log-transformed high-sensitivity C-reactive protein (hsCRP)^{21,45-47} and assessed the additive utility of Angiopoietin-related biomarkers. Second, we excluded those with an eGFR <60 mL/min/1.73 m²



and repeated the main analyses, as serum levels of Angiopoietin-related biomarkers can be affected by renal dysfunction.^{28,29}

C. Angiopoietin-based subclinical atherosclerosis risk prediction models

We developed Angiopoietin-based subclinical atherosclerosis risk prediction models by logistic regression analysis. Internal validation of the models was performed by (1) bootstrapping with 1,000 iterations and (2) 5-fold cross-validation over 200 repetitions. For holdout validation, the models were derived from the biomarker subcohort 1 and validated in the biomarker subcohort 2.

To enhance the utility of prediction models and accelerate their adoption into real-world clinical practice, we additionally developed integer risk scores for subclinical atherosclerosis. For this, the biomarker-added logistic regression models were reconstructed with all the predictors dichotomized using previously defined (for Angiopoietin-related biomarkers) or clinically relevant cut-offs (for traditional risk factors). The β coefficient for each predictor was rounded to the nearest integer and then adjusted as necessary to assign integer scores to the predictors. According to the total risk score, participants were classified into very low (0-3), low (4-6), intermediate (7-9), high (10-12), and very high (\geq 13) risk groups. Internal validation of the risk score was performed by (1) simple method without optimism correction and (2) bootstrapping with 1,000 iterations.

D. Secondary analysis of carotid atherosclerosis

We constructed the secondary biomarker subcohort for the analysis of carotid atherosclerosis. The subcohort consisted of 772 participants, 201 from the CMERC-



HI-based biomarker subcohort 2.5 and 571 from the CMERC-based biomarker subcohort 3 (Appendix 1). Carotid atherosclerosis was measured using carotid ultrasonography and defined as the mean carotid intima-media thickness (IMT) in quartile 4 (vs. quartile 1 to 3).



III. RESULTS

1. Baseline cohort and biomarker characteristics

A total of 924 participants (median age, 62 years; 60.5% female) were enrolled in the primary biomarker subcohort—750 (81.2%) from the subcohort 1 and 174 (18.8%) from the subcohort 2 (Figure 1). In the primary biomarker subcohort, the current smoking rate was 8.3%; median systolic and diastolic BP were 121 mm Hg and 76 mm Hg, respectively; 37.8% were taking BP-lowering drugs; 18.2% had diabetes; median total cholesterol and HDL-C levels were 188 mg/dL and 58 mg/dL, respectively; 39.1% were taking lipidlowering drugs; and median 10-year atherosclerotic CVD risk was 6.4% (Table 2). Compared with the participants in the subcohort 1, those in the subcohort 2 were younger and less likely to be female, were more likely to be currently smoking, taking BP- and lipidlowering drugs, and having diabetes, had lower total cholesterol and HDL-C levels, and exhibited higher 10-year atherosclerotic CVD risk. Serum levels of Angiopoietin-related biomarkers were largely similar between the subcohorts; the overall median levels of Angiopoietin-2, Angiopoietin-1, and soluble Tie-2 were 1.8 ng/mL, 40.4 ng/mL, and 9.4 ng/mL, respectively. Severe coronary atherosclerosis and coronary atherosclerosis were present in 60 (6.5%) and 390 (42.2%) participants, respectively. CAC score was generally higher in the subcohort 2 than in the subcohort 1 (Table 2). The baseline characteristics did not differ appreciably between the included and excluded participants in either CMERC or CMERC-HI (Appendix 2).



Variable	Primary biomarker	Biomarker	Biomarker
	subcohort	subcohort 1	subcohort 2
	(N=924)	(N=750)	(N=174)
Age, years	62 [54-66]	62 [55-66]	59 [50-65]
Female	559 (60.5)	488 (65.1)	71 (40.8)
Current smoking	77 (8.3)	57 (7.6)	20 (11.5)
Systolic BP, mm Hg	121 [110-132]	120 [110-132]	122 [114-132]
Diastolic BP, mm Hg	76 [69-82]	76 [68-82]	75 [70-82]
BP-lowering drug use	349 (37.8)	212 (28.3)	137 (78.7)
Diabetes	168 (18.2)	98 (13.1)	70 (40.2)
Total cholesterol, mg/dL	188 [159-215]	192 [163-220]	168 [144-188]
HDL-cholesterol, mg/dL	58 [49-69]	60 [51-72]	48 [42-55]
Lipid-lowering drug use	361 (39.1)	272 (36.3)	89 (51.1)
10-year ASCVD risk, %			
<2.5	152 (16.5)	126 (16.8)	26 (14.9)
2.5-<5	203 (22.0)	165 (22.0)	38 (21.8)
5-<7.5	199 (21.5)	168 (22.4)	31 (17.8)
7.5-<10	132 (14.3)	114 (15.2)	18 (10.3)
≥ 10	238 (25.8)	177 (23.6)	61 (35.1)
Angiopoietin-2, ng/mL	1.8 [1.5-2.1]	1.8 [1.5-2.1]	1.8 [1.5-2.1]
Angiopoietin-1, ng/mL	40.4 [33.8-47.7]	40.3 [34.0-47.7]	40.7 [33.2-47.7]
Soluble Tie-2, ng/mL	9.4 [8.2-10.7]	9.2 [8.1-10.4]	10.6 [9.2-12.4]
CAC score			
0	534 (57.8)	459 (61.2)	75 (43.1)
1-10	79 (8.5)	63 (8.4)	16 (9.2)
11-100	172 (18.6)	129 (17.2)	43 (24.7)
101-400	79 (8.5)	57 (7.6)	22 (12.6)
>400	60 (6.5)	42 (5.6)	18 (10.3)

Table 2. Baseline characteristics of the participants

Values are presented as median [interquartile range] or number (%). ASCVD, atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease; BP, blood pressure; CAC, coronary artery calcium; HDL, high-density lipoprotein; Tie-2, tunica interna endothelial cell kinase 2.

Before log-transformation, the distribution of age was left-skewed, while those of systolic BP, total cholesterol level, and HDL-C level were right-skewed (Figure 2A). After log-transformation, the latter distributions became normalized (Figure 2B). The distributions of Angiopoietin-related biomarker levels were also right-skewed before and became normalized after log-transformation (Figure 3).





Figure 2. Distributions of continuous traditional risk factors. (A) Before log-transformation. (B) After log-transformation. HDL-C, high-density lipoprotein cholesterol; SBP, systolic blood pressure; TC, total cholesterol.



Figure 3. Distributions of serum Angiopoietin-related biomarker levels. (A) Before log-transformation. (B) After log-transformation. AGPT-1, Angiopoietin-1; AGPT-2, Angiopoietin-2; sTie-2, soluble tunica interna endothelial cell kinase 2.



Angiopoietin-related biomarkers showed a poor correlation with each other; the Spearman's rho was 0.048 between Angiopoietin-2 and Angiopoietin-1, 0.150 between Angiopoietin-2 and soluble Tie-2, and 0.032 between Angiopoietin-1 and soluble Tie-2 (Figure 4).



Figure 4. Pairwise correlation between Angiopoietin-related biomarkers. AGPT-1, Angiopoietin-1; AGPT-2, Angiopoietin-2; sTie-2, soluble tunica interna endothelial cell kinase 2.

The associations of traditional risk factors with Angiopoietin-related biomarkers were generally weak and heterogeneous: sex, current smoking, and HDL-C level were significantly associated with Angiopoietin-2; age, sex, total cholesterol level, and lipid-lowering drug use were significantly associated with Angiopoietin-1; and age, systolic BP, and HDL-C level were significantly associated with soluble Tie-2 (Table 3).



Predictor	β	(95% confidence interval)
Ln Angiopoietin-2, ng/mL		
Ln Age, years	0.074	(-0.044 to 0.191)
Female sex	0.109	(0.067 to 0.151)
Current smoking	0.069	(0.001 to 0.137)
Ln systolic BP, mmHg	-0.014	(-0.164 to 0.136)
BP-lowering drug use	-0.012	(-0.053 to 0.029)
Diabetes	0.009	(-0.039 to 0.058)
Ln total cholesterol, mg/dL	-0.066	(-0.164 to 0.032)
Ln HDL-C, mg/dL	-0.117	(-0.194 to -0.041)
Lipid-lowering drug use	-0.010	(-0.053 to 0.033)
Ln Angiopoietin-1, ng/mL		
Ln Age, years	-0.212	(-0.332 to -0.093)
Female sex	-0.043	(-0.086 to -0.001)
Current smoking	0.040	(-0.029 to 0.109)
Ln systolic BP, mmHg	0.112	(-0.040 to 0.264)
BP-lowering drug use	-0.006	(-0.047 to 0.035)
Diabetes	0.012	(-0.038 to 0.061)
Ln total cholesterol, mg/dL	0.208	(0.108 to 0.307)
Ln HDL-C, mg/dL	-0.059	(-0.137 to 0.018)
Lipid-lowering drug use	0.052	(0.008 to 0.095)
Ln soluble Tie-2, ng/mL		
Ln Age, years	-0.116	(-0.201 to -0.032)
Female sex	-0.012	(-0.042 to 0.018)
Current smoking	0.002	(-0.047 to 0.050)
Ln systolic BP, mmHg	0.123	(0.015 to 0.230)
BP-lowering drug use	0.009	(-0.020 to 0.038)
Diabetes	0.028	(-0.007 to 0.063)
Ln total cholesterol, mg/dL	0.007	(-0.064 to 0.077)
Ln HDL-C, mg/dL	-0.118	(-0.173 to -0.063)
Lipid-lowering drug use	-0.014	(-0.045 to 0.017)

 Table 3. Associations of traditional risk factors with Angiopoietin-related biomarkers

 Outcome

Multivariable linear regression models were used. BP, blood pressure; HDL-C, high-density lipoprotein cholesterol.



There existed non-linear associations between Angiopoietin-related biomarkers and subclinical atherosclerosis risk (Figure 5). We therefore determined binary cut-offs for the biomarker levels based on Youden's index (Table 4).



Figure 5. Associations of Angiopoietin-related biomarkers with (A) severe coronary atherosclerosis and (B) coronary atherosclerosis. Restricted cubic spline terms were used with 4 knots at the 5th, 35th, 65th, and 95th percentiles. The models were adjusted for traditional risk factors, subcohort category (1 vs. 2), and the remaining biomarkers. AGPT-1, Angiopoietin-1; AGPT-2, Angiopoietin-2; CI, confidence interval; OR, odds ratio; sTie-2, soluble tunica interna endothelial cell kinase 2.

Table 4.]	Binary	cut-offs	for A	Angiop	oietin-	related	biomarke	ers
	~			<u> </u>				

Biomarker	Cut-off, 1	Cut-off, ng/mL		
	Severe coronary atherosclerosis	Coronary atherosclerosis		
Angiopoietin-2	1.67	1.75		
Angiopoietin-1	26.3	44.4		
Soluble Tie-2	10.3	8.19		

Tie-2, tunica interna endothelial cell kinase 2.



For severe coronary atherosclerosis, the strengths of the associations for Angiopoietin-related biomarkers were as strong as, if not stronger than, those for the traditional risk factors (Table 5). The associations became stronger when the biomarkers were dichotomized using the binary cut-offs (Table 5). The findings were similar for coronary atherosclerosis (Table 6).

 Table 5. Associations of Angiopoietin-related biomarkers and traditional risk factors with

 severe coronary atherosclerosis

Variable	Odds ratio (95% confidence interval)		
	Linear biomarkers	Binary biomarkers	
Angiopoietin-2	1.63 (1.23-2.16)	3.46 (1.72-6.98)	
Angiopoietin-1	0.74 (0.56-0.97)	0.20 (0.09-0.46)	
Soluble Tie-2	0.83 (0.63-1.11)	0.71 (0.38-1.33)	
Ln Age, z-score	2.49 (1.57-3.96)	2.58 (1.63-4.07)	
Female sex	0.18 (0.09-0.36)	0.17 (0.08-0.34)	
Current smoking	0.99 (0.39-2.51)	1.02 (0.40-2.62)	
Ln systolic BP, z-score	1.14 (0.84-1.55)	1.12 (0.82-1.53)	
BP-lowering drug use	1.76 (0.94-3.29)	1.92 (1.01-3.63)	
Diabetes	2.81 (1.51-5.21)	2.65 (1.41-5.01)	
Ln total cholesterol, z-score	1.07 (0.77-1.49)	1.06 (0.77-1.48)	
Ln HDL-C, z-score	0.89 (0.64-1.25)	0.89 (0.63-1.24)	
Lipid-lowering drug use	1.24 (0.64-2.39)	1.32 (0.68-2.57)	

Multivariable logistic regression models were used. Continuous variables, including linear biomarkers, were z-transformed to maximize comparability between the variables. BP, blood pressure; HDL-C, high-density lipoprotein cholesterol; Tie-2, tunica interna endothelial cell kinase 2.



Variable	Odds ratio (95% confidence interval)		
	Linear biomarkers	Binary biomarkers	
Angiopoietin-2	1.24 (1.05-1.47)	1.64 (1.19-2.27)	
Angiopoietin-1	0.86 (0.74-1.01)	0.64 (0.46-0.90)	
Soluble Tie-2	0.86 (0.73-1.01)	0.50 (0.35-0.73)	
Ln Age, z-score	2.04 (1.69-2.46)	2.03 (1.68-2.45)	
Female sex	0.24 (0.16-0.34)	0.24 (0.16-0.34)	
Current smoking	0.83 (0.46-1.50)	0.84 (0.47-1.52)	
Ln systolic BP, z-score	1.28 (1.08-1.50)	1.29 (1.09-1.52)	
BP-lowering drug use	1.71 (1.22-2.41)	1.77 (1.26-2.50)	
Diabetes	2.68 (1.76-4.09)	2.66 (1.74-4.06)	
Ln total cholesterol, z-score	1.04 (0.87-1.26)	1.06 (0.88-1.28)	
Ln HDL-C, z-score	0.80 (0.67-0.96)	0.78 (0.65-0.94)	
Lipid-lowering drug use	1.48 (1.03-2.15)	1.49(1.02-2.16)	

 Table 6. Associations of Angiopoietin-related biomarkers and traditional risk factors with coronary atherosclerosis

 Variable
 Odds ratio (95% confidence interval)

Multivariable logistic regression models were used. Continuous variables, including linear biomarkers, were z-transformed to maximize comparability between the variables. BP, blood pressure; HDL-C, high-density lipoprotein cholesterol; Tie-2, tunica interna endothelial cell kinase 2.

2. Predictive utility of Angiopoietin-related biomarkers

Traditional risk factor-based model for severe coronary atherosclerosis showed good discrimination (C-index, 0.830 [95% CI, 0.785 to 0.876]). Angiopoietin-2, Angiopoietin-1, and soluble Tie-2, in continuous forms, did not significantly improve risk discrimination when added separately to the traditional risk factor-based model (Table 7). However, the discrimination was significantly improved when these biomarkers were added to the model at once (Δ C-index, 0.019 [95% CI, 0.001 to 0.040]). The increase in C-index was even larger when the biomarkers were dichotomized (Δ C-index, 0.030 [95% CI, 0.007 to 0.051]) (Table 7). Angiopoietin-related biomarkers also improved risk discrimination for coronary atherosclerosis, although the degree of improvement was smaller than that for severe coronary atherosclerosis (Table 8).



Biomarker form	Index	TRF model	TRF model + AGPT-2	TRF model + AGPT-1	TRF model + sTie-2	TRF model + AGPT-2 + AGPT-1 + sTie-2
	C-index	0.830	0.842	0.837	0.832	0.849
C.	(95% CI)	(0.785 to 0.876)	(0.798 to 0.887)	(0.790 to 0.884)	(0.787 to 0.877)	(0.805 to 0.894)
Continuous	ΔC -index		0.012	0.007	0.002	0.019
	(95% CI)		(-0.006 to 0.032)	(-0.006 to 0.018)	(-0.002 to 0.006)	(0.001 to 0.040)
	C-index	0.830	0.851	0.839	0.830	0.860
Binary	(95% CI)	(0.785 to 0.876)	(0.811 to 0.891)	(0.790 to 0.887)	(0.785 to 0.876)	(0.817 to 0.903)
	ΔC -index		0.021	0.008	0.000	0.030
	(95% CI)		(0.001 to 0.040)	(-0.006 to 0.027)	(-0.001 to 0.001)	(0.007 to 0.051)

Table 7. Improvement in risk discrimination for severe coronary atherosclerosis

AGPT-1, Angiopoietin-1; AGPT-2, Angiopoietin-2; CI, confidence interval; sTie-2, soluble tunica interna endothelial cell kinase 2; TRF, traditional risk factor.

Biomarker form	Index	TRF model	TRF model + AGPT-2	TRF model + AGPT-1	TRF model + sTie-2	TRF model + AGPT-2 + AGPT-1 + sTie-2
Continuous	C-index	0.798	0.801	0.800	0.800	0.805
	(95% CI)	(0.770 to 0.827)	(0.773 to 0.829)	(0.772 to 0.829)	(0.772 to 0.829)	(0.777 to 0.833)
	ΔC -index		0.003	0.002	0.002	0.007
	(95% CI)		(-0.002 to 0.007)	(-0.002 to 0.006)	(-0.002 to 0.005)	(0.000 to 0.015)
	C-index	0.798	0.801	0.803	0.805	0.812
Binary	(95% CI)	(0.770 to 0.827)	(0.773 to 0.829)	(0.774 to 0.831)	(0.777 to 0.833)	(0.785 to 0.840)
	Δ C-index		0.003	0.004	0.007	0.014
	(95% CI)		(-0.002 to 0.008)	(0.000 to 0.009)	(-0.001 to 0.014)	(0.004 to 0.025)

Table 8. Improvement in risk discrimination for coronary atherosclerosis

AGPT-1, Angiopoietin-1; AGPT-2, Angiopoietin-2; CI, confidence interval; sTie-2, soluble tunica interna endothelial cell kinase 2; TRF, traditional risk factor.



Angiopoietin-related biomarkers, in continuous forms, also improved risk stratification for severe coronary atherosclerosis (cNRI, 0.46 [95% CI, 0.20 to 0.72]; IDI, 0.037 [95% CI, 0.008 to 0.066]). The improvements were even greater when the biomarkers were dichotomized (cNRI, 0.53 [95% CI, 0.29 to 0.77]; IDI, 0.061 [95% CI, 0.027 to 0.095]) (Table 9). The biomarkers improved risk stratification for coronary atherosclerosis as well, although the degree of improvement was smaller than those for severe coronary atherosclerosis (Table 10).

In subgroup analyses, improvements in risk discrimination for severe coronary atherosclerosis were generally more pronounced in higher-risk subgroups (Table 11), while the trend was less evident for coronary atherosclerosis (Table 12). Improvements in risk stratification for severe coronary atherosclerosis and coronary atherosclerosis are presented in Appendix 3 and Appendix 4, respectively.



Form	Index	AGPT-2	AGPT-1	sTie-2	AGPT-2, AGPT-1, sTie-2				
	cNRI	0.39	0.15	0.07	0.46				
Cont. Bin.	(95% CI)	(0.13 to 0.65)	(-0.12 to 0.41)	(-0.19 to 0.33)	(0.20 to 0.72)				
	IDI	0.024	0.009	-0.001	0.037				
	(95% CI)	(0.005 to 0.044)	(-0.005 to 0.022)	(-0.004 to 0.002)	(0.008 to 0.066)				
	cNRI	0.36	0.46	-0.15	0.53				
	(95% CI)	(0.14 to 0.59)	(0.23 to 0.70)	(-0.41 to 0.10)	(0.29 to 0.77)				
	IDI	0.021	0.037	0.000	0.061				
	(95% CI)	(0.004 to 0.039)	(0.009 to 0.065)	(-0.001 to 0.001)	(0.027 to 0.095)				

 Table 9. Improvement in risk stratification for severe coronary atherosclerosis

 Added biomarker*

*Added to the traditional risk factor-based model. AGPT-1, Angiopoietin-1; AGPT-2, Angiopoietin-2; CI, confidence interval; cNRI, continuous net reclassification improvement; IDI, integrated discrimination improvement; sTie-2, soluble tunica interna endothelial cell kinase 2.

		Added biomarker*							
Form	Index	ACDT 2	ACDT 1	aTia 2	AGPT-2,				
		AGP1-2	AGP1-1	STIE-2	AGPT-1, sTie-2				
	cNRI	0.18	0.09	0.10	0.20				
Cont	(95% CI)	(0.05 to 0.31)	(-0.04 to 0.22)	(-0.03 to 0.23)	(0.07 to 0.33)				
Cont.	IDI	0.004	0.004	0.003	0.011				
	(95% CI)	(0.000 to 0.009)	(0.000 to 0.007)	(-0.001 to 0.006)	(0.005 to 0.018)				
	cNRI	0.15	0.14	0.15	0.18				
Bin	(95% CI)	(0.02 to 0.28)	(0.01 to 0.26)	(0.04 to 0.26)	(0.05 to 0.31)				
	IDI	0.005	0.005	0.011	0.023				
	(95% CI)	(0.000 to 0.009)	(0.001 to 0.010)	(0.004 to 0.018)	(0.013 to 0.033)				

Table 10. Improvement in risk stratification for coronary atherosclerosis

*Added to the traditional risk factor-based model. AGPT-1, Angiopoietin-1; AGPT-2, Angiopoietin-2; CI, confidence interval; cNRI, continuous net reclassification improvement; IDI, integrated discrimination improvement; sTie-2, soluble tunica interna endothelial cell kinase 2.



Table 11.	Improvement	in risk	discrimin	nation fo	or severe	coronary	atherosclerosis	across
subgroups								

Subgroup	Ν	ΔC -index (95% CI)*
Age <65 years	601	0.025 (-0.001 to 0.080)
Age ≥65 years	323	0.035 (0.000 to 0.076)
Female	559	0.019 (-0.036 to 0.078)
Male	365	0.062 (0.021 to 0.119)
Without hypertension	488	0.033 (0.012 to 0.079)
With hypertension	436	0.047 (0.005 to 0.087)
Without diabetes	756	0.034 (0.000 to 0.065)
With diabetes	168	0.060 (0.005 to 0.135)
Not taking lipid-lowering drug	563	0.011 (-0.013 to 0.025)
Taking lipid-lowering drug	361	0.061 (0.015 to 0.119)
Subcohort 1	750	0.018 (-0.002 to 0.040)
Subcohort 2	174	0.057 (0.008 to 0.120)
10-year ASCVD risk <7.5%	554	0.039 (0.007 to 0.099)
10-year ASCVD risk 7.5-<10%	132	0.044 (-0.022 to 0.313)
10-year ASCVD risk ≥10%	238	0.073 (0.016 to 0.140)

*Obtained after adding binary Angiopoietin-related biomarkers to the traditional risk factorbased models. ASCVD, atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease; CI, confidence interval.

 Table 12. Improvement in risk discrimination for coronary atherosclerosis across subgroups

Subgroup	Ν	ΔC -index (95% CI) [*]
Age <65 years	601	0.013 (0.002 to 0.024)
Age ≥65 years	323	0.033 (0.007 to 0.062)
Female	559	0.037 (0.015 to 0.066)
Male	365	0.007 (-0.008 to 0.021)
Without hypertension	488	0.018 (-0.001 to 0.037)
With hypertension	436	0.022 (0.002 to 0.045)
Without diabetes	756	0.019 (0.006 to 0.033)
With diabetes	168	0.015 (-0.015 to 0.046)
Not taking lipid-lowering drug	563	0.012 (0.002 to 0.025)
Taking lipid-lowering drug	361	0.023 (-0.004 to 0.050)
Subcohort 1	750	0.019 (0.006 to 0.032)
Subcohort 2	174	0.007 (-0.008 to 0.027)
10-year ASCVD risk <2.5%	152	0.016 (-0.013 to 0.044)
10-year ASCVD risk 2.5-<5%	203	0.016 (-0.022 to 0.053)
10-year ASCVD risk ≥5%	569	0.023 (0.003 to 0.045)

*Obtained after adding binary Angiopoietin-related biomarkers to the traditional risk factorbased models. ASCVD, atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease; CI, confidence interval.



Concerning log-transformed CAC score, Angiopoietin-related biomarkers significantly improved model goodness of fit when added to the traditional risk factorbased model (ΔR^2 , 0.011 [95% CI, 0.001 to 0.023]) (Appendix 5). As for coronary atherosclerosis progression, the biomarkers led to numerical improvements in risk discrimination when added to the traditional risk factor-based model, but they did not reach statistical significance (ΔC -index, 0.014 [95% CI, -0.030 to 0.057] in continuous form; 0.025 [95% CI, -0.019 to 0.069] in binary form) (Appendix 6).

In sensitivity analyses, dichotomized Angiopoietin-related biomarkers still improved risk discrimination for severe coronary atherosclerosis and coronary atherosclerosis when (1) the traditional risk factor-based models were expanded to further include weekly minutes of moderate-to-vigorous physical activity, waist circumference, eGFR, and hsCRP (Appendix 7, Appendix 8); and (2) participants with an eGFR <60 mL/min/1.73 m² were excluded from the analyses (Appendix 9, Appendix 10).

Angiopoietin-related biomarkers did not improve model calibration when added to the traditional risk factor-based model for severe coronary atherosclerosis—the Hosmer-Lemeshow chi-square statistic was 3.4 in traditional risk factor-based model, 4.9 in continuous biomarker-added model, and 7.8 in binary biomarker-added model (Figure 6). However, the biomarkers did improve model calibration for coronary atherosclerosis—the Hosmer-Lemeshow chi-square statistic was 13.7 in traditional risk factor-based model, 8.4 in continuous biomarker-added model, and 3.4 in binary biomarker-added model (Figure 7).




Figure 6. Calibration plots of the models for severe coronary atherosclerosis. (A) Traditional risk factor-based model. (B) Continuous biomarker-added model. (C) Binary biomarker-added model. H-L, Hosmer-Lemeshow.



Figure 7. Calibration plots of the models for coronary atherosclerosis. (A) Traditional risk factor-based model. (B) Continuous biomarker-added model. (C) Binary biomarker-added model. H-L, Hosmer-Lemeshow.



3. Angiopoietin-based subclinical atherosclerosis risk prediction models

A. Risk model for severe coronary atherosclerosis

The risk prediction models for severe coronary atherosclerosis were developed separately using continuous and binary biomarkers. The model formulas are as follows:

Probability of having severe coronary atherosclerosis = $\frac{e^{LP}}{1 + e^{LP}}$

$$\begin{split} LP_{Continuous} &= 5.745 \times Ln \ Age - 1.721 \times Female \ sex - 0.008 \times Current \ smoking \\ &+ 1.076 \times Ln \ SBP + 0.563 \times BP \text{-lowering} \ drug \ use + 1.033 \times Diabetes \\ &+ 0.323 \times Ln \ TC - 0.429 \times Ln \ HDL\text{-}C + 0.215 \times Lipid\text{-lowering} \ drug \ use \\ &+ 1.765 \times Ln \ AGPT\text{-}2 - 1.078 \times Ln \ AGPT\text{-}1 - 0.896 \times Ln \ sTie\text{-}2 \\ &- 24.904 \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} LP_{Binary} &= 5.950 \times Ln \ Age - 1.776 \times Female \ sex + 0.018 \times Current \ smoking \\ &+ 0.908 \times Ln \ SBP + 0.651 \times BP \text{-lowering} \ drug \ use + 0.976 \times Diabetes \\ &+ 0.286 \times Ln \ TC - 0.459 \times Ln \ HDL\text{-}C + 0.276 \times Lipid\text{-lowering} \ drug \ use \\ &+ 1.242 \times (AGPT\text{-}2 \ge 1.67) - 1.610 \times (AGPT\text{-}1 \ge 26.3) - 0.346 \times (sTie2 \ge 10.3) \\ &- 28.769 \end{split}$$

In internal validation, the optimism-corrected C-index of the continuous Angiopoietin-based model was 0.838 (95% CI, 0.765 to 0.900) by bootstrapping and 0.819 (95% CI, 0.711 to 0.903) by 5-fold cross-validation; that of the binary Angiopoietin-based model was 0.849 (95% CI, 0.777 to 0.907) by bootstrapping and 0.827 (95% CI, 0.730 to 0.915) by 5-fold cross-validation (Table 13). Calibration plots showed good concordance between observed and predicted probabilities, with the Hosmer-Lemeshow chi-square statistics of 10.0 and 11.4 for continuous and binary Angiopoietin-based models, respectively (Figure 8A, Figure 8B).



Table 13. C-indexes of risk prediction models for severe coronary atherosclerosis in internal and holdout validation

Validation	Method	C-index (95% confidence interval)				
		Continuous Angiopoietin- Binary Angiopoietin-				
		based model	based model			
Internal	Bootstrapping*	0.838 (0.765 to 0.900)	0.849 (0.777 to 0.907)			
	5-fold cross-validation [†]	0.819 (0.711 to 0.903)	0.827 (0.730 to 0.915)			
Holdout		0.680 (0.544 to 0.816)	0.678 (0.529 to 0.826)			
*Conducted	over 1,000 iterations. [†] C	onducted over 200 repetition	ns.			



Figure 8. Calibration plots of the risk prediction models for severe coronary atherosclerosis. (A, B) Internal validation. (C, D) Holdout validation. (A, C) Continuous Angiopoietin-based model. (B, D) Binary Angiopoietin-based model. H-L, Hosmer-Lemeshow.



In holdout validation, the C-indexes of the continuous and binary Angiopoietin-based models were 0.680 (95% CI, 0.544 to 0.816) and 0.678 (95% CI, 0.529 to 0.826), respectively (Table 13). The precision of the statistics was low, evidenced by their wide confidence intervals, which was attributable to the small number of severe coronary atherosclerosis cases in the validation set (N=18). Calibration plots showed modest concordance between observed and predicted probabilities, with the Hosmer-Lemeshow chi-square statistics of 16.0 and 18.5 for continuous and binary Angiopoietin-based models, respectively (Figure 8C, Figure 8D).

B. Risk model for coronary atherosclerosis

The risk prediction models for coronary atherosclerosis were developed separately using continuous and binary biomarkers. The model formulas are as follows:

Probability of having coronary atherosclerosis =
$$\frac{e^{LP}}{1 + e^{LP}}$$

$$\begin{split} LP_{Continuous} &= 4.480 \times Ln \ Age - 1.444 \times Female \ sex - 0.182 \times Current \ smoking \\ &+ 1.943 \times Ln \ SBP + 0.539 \times BP \ lowering \ drug \ use + 0.987 \times Diabetes \\ &+ 0.201 \times Ln \ TC - 0.843 \times Ln \ HDL-C + 0.395 \times Lipid \ lowering \ drug \ use \\ &+ 0.783 \times Ln \ AGPT-2 - 0.517 \times Ln \ AGPT-1 - 0.772 \times Ln \ sTie-2 \\ &- 20.660 \end{split}$$

 $\begin{array}{l} LP_{Binary} = 4.454 \times Ln \ Age - 1.444 \times Female \ sex - 0.170 \times Current \ smoking \\ + \ 2.000 \times Ln \ SBP + 0.572 \times BP \ -lowering \ drug \ use + 0.979 \times Diabetes \\ + \ 0.282 \times Ln \ TC - 0.945 \times Ln \ HDL \ -C + 0.397 \times Lipid \ -lowering \ drug \ use \\ + \ 0.496 \times (AGPT \ -2 \ge 1.75) - 0.447 \times (AGPT \ -1 \ge 44.4) - 0.684 \times (sTie2 \ge 8.19) \\ - \ 23.617 \end{array}$



In internal validation, the optimism-corrected C-index of the continuous Angiopoietin-based model was 0.799 (95% CI, 0.759 to 0.838) by bootstrapping and 0.793 (95% CI, 0.736 to 0.850) by 5-fold cross-validation; that of the binary Angiopoietin-based model was 0.807 (95% CI, 0.767 to 0.844) by bootstrapping and 0.801 (95% CI, 0.741 to 0.852) by 5-fold cross-validation (Table 14). Calibration plots showed excellent concordance between observed and predicted probabilities, with the Hosmer-Lemeshow chi-square statistics of 17.7 and 16.5 for continuous and binary Angiopoietin-based models, respectively (Figure 9A, Figure 9B).

In holdout validation, the C-indexes of the continuous and binary Angiopoietin-based models were 0.791 (95% CI, 0.724 to 0.858) and 0.785 (95% CI, 0.718 to 0.852), respectively (Table 14). Calibration plots showed good concordance between observed and predicted probabilities, with the Hosmer-Lemeshow chi-square statistics of 1.7 and 2.9 for continuous and binary Angiopoietin-based models, respectively (Figure 9C, Figure 9D).



Table 14. C-indexes of risk prediction models for coronary atherosclerosis in internal and								
holdout val	idation							
Validation	Method	C-index (95% confidence interval)						

Validation	Method	C-index (95% confidence interval)			
		Continuous Angiopoietin-	Binary Angiopoietin-		
		based model	based model		
Internal	Bootstrapping*	0.799 (0.759 to 0.838)	0.807 (0.767 to 0.844)		
	5-fold cross-validation [†]	0.793 (0.736 to 0.850)	0.801 (0.741 to 0.852)		
Holdout		0.791 (0.724 to 0.858)	0.785 (0.718 to 0.852)		
*Conducted	over 1,000 iterations. [†] C	onducted over 200 repetition	ns.		



Figure 9. Calibration plots of the risk prediction models for coronary atherosclerosis. (A, B) Internal validation. (C, D) Holdout validation. (A, C) Continuous Angiopoietin-based model. (B, D) Binary Angiopoietin-based model. H-L, Hosmer-Lemeshow.



C. Integer risk score for severe coronary atherosclerosis

The integer risk score for severe coronary atherosclerosis is presented in Table 15. Given the well-established association of total cholesterol level with subclinical atherosclerosis, a total cholesterol \geq 240 mg/dL was assigned a score of 1 despite the β coefficient of 0.38.

 Table 15. Integer risk score for severe coronary atherosclerosis

Variable	β coefficient	Score
Age ≥65 years	1.83	2
Female sex	-3.47	-3
Current smoking	-0.40	0
Hypertension	1.59	2
Diabetes	1.86	2
Total cholesterol ≥240 mg/dL	0.38	1
HDL-cholesterol <50 mg/dL	0.58	1
Lipid-lowering drug use	0.65	1
Angiopoietin-2 ≥1.67 ng/mL	2.32	2
Angiopoietin-1 ≥26.3 ng/mL	-3.20	-3
Soluble Tie-2 ≥10.3 ng/mL	-0.61	-1
Baseline score		7

HDL, high-density lipoprotein; Tie-2, tunica interna endothelial cell kinase 2.

In internal validation, the C-index of the risk score was 0.835 (95% CI, 0.791 to 0.880) by simple method and 0.837 (95% CI, 0.770 to 0.897) by bootstrapping, suggesting that the risk score was not overfitted. The categorization of risk using the total risk score—very low (0-3), low (4-6), intermediate (7-9), high (10-12), and very high (\geq 13)—also demonstrated effective risk discrimination (Figure 10A).



D. Integer risk score for coronary atherosclerosis

The integer risk score for coronary atherosclerosis is presented in Table 16. Given the biological implausibility of the protective association between tobacco smoking and subclinical atherosclerosis,^{10,11,48} current smoking was assigned a score of 0 despite the β coefficient of -0.72.

Table 16. Integer risk score for coronary atherosclerosis

8		
Variable	β coefficient	Score
Age ≥65 years	2.03	2
Female sex	-2.91	-3
Current smoking	-0.72	0
Hypertension	1.56	2
Diabetes	2.11	2
Total cholesterol ≥240 mg/dL	0.54	1
HDL-cholesterol <50 mg/dL	0.59	1
Lipid-lowering drug use	0.94	1
Angiopoietin-2 \geq 1.75 ng/mL	0.99	1
Angiopoietin-1 ≥44.4 ng/mL	-1.12	-1
Soluble Tie-2 \geq 8.19 ng/mL	-1.45	-1
Baseline score		5

HDL, high-density lipoprotein; Tie-2, tunica interna endothelial cell kinase 2.

In internal validation, the C-index of the risk score was 0.791 (95% CI, 0.762 to 0.819) by simple method and 0.790 (95% CI, 0.748 to 0.831) by bootstrapping, suggesting that the risk score was not overfitted. The categorization of risk using the integer risk score—very low (0-3), low (4-6), intermediate (7-9), high (10-12), and very high (\geq 13)—also demonstrated effective risk discrimination (Figure 10B).





Figure 10. Categorization of subclinical atherosclerosis risk using the integer risk score. (A) Risk categorization for severe coronary atherosclerosis. (B) Risk categorization for coronary atherosclerosis. According to the total risk score, participants were classified into very low (0-3), low (4-6), intermediate (7-9), high (10-12), and very high (\geq 13) risk groups. Error bars denote 95% confidence intervals.

4. Secondary analysis of carotid atherosclerosis

A total of 772 participants (median age, 56 years; 68% female) were enrolled in the secondary biomarker subcohort—201 (26.0%) from the subcohort 2.5 and 571 (74.0%) from the subcohort 3 (Appendix 1). In the secondary biomarker subcohort, the current smoking rate was 9.2%, 15.7% had diabetes, and the mean carotid IMT was 0.67 mm. Compared with the participants in the subcohort 3, those in the subcohort 2.5 were older, were more likely to be male and currently smoking, exhibited worse cardiometabolic risk profiles, and had higher 10-year atherosclerotic CVD risk and mean carotid IMT (Appendix 11).

Angiopoietin-2, Angiopoietin-1, and soluble Tie-2, in continuous forms, did not significantly improve risk discrimination for carotid atherosclerosis when added separately to the traditional risk factor-based model (Appendix 12). However, the discrimination was



significantly improved when these biomarkers were added to the model at once (Δ C-index, 0.011 [95% CI, 0.001 to 0.021]). The increase in C-index was even larger when the biomarkers were dichotomized (Δ C-index, 0.021 [95% CI, 0.005 to 0.035]) (Appendix 12).

Angiopoietin-related biomarkers, in continuous forms, also improved risk stratification for carotid atherosclerosis (cNRI, 0.15 [95% CI, 0.00 to 0.30]; IDI, 0.010 [95% CI, 0.002 to 0.017]). The improvements were even greater when the biomarkers were dichotomized (cNRI, 0.44 [95% CI, 0.29 to 0.58]; IDI, 0.027 [95% CI, 0.014 to 0.040]) (Appendix 13).



IV. DISCUSSION

1. Principal findings of the study

In this prospective ancillary study of the CMERC and CMERC-HI cohorts, we constructed a biomarker subcohort for exploring Angiopoietin-related biomarkers. The subcohort, which consisted of a total of 924 participants, was broadly representative of the primary prevention population—i.e., those without diagnosed CVD—in Korea. The Angiopoietinrelated biomarkers demonstrated a poor correlation with each other, exhibited weak or no association with traditional risk factors, and had a strong, non-linear relationship with the risk of subclinical atherosclerosis. The biomarkers significantly improved risk discrimination and stratification for subclinical atherosclerosis when added to traditional risk factor-based models; the improvements were more pronounced with the biomarkers in binary forms than in their linear forms. The Angiopoietin-based subclinical atherosclerosis risk prediction models were developed and demonstrated good performance, with the Cindex ranging from 0.793 to 0.849 and the Hosmer-Lemeshow chi-square statistic ranging from 10.0 to 17.7 in internal validation. The integer risk scores for subclinical atherosclerosis were also developed for enhanced clinical utility and exhibited satisfactory performance, with the C-index ranging between 0.790 and 0.837.

2. Clinical implications of the findings

The newly developed Angiopoietin-based risk prediction models for severe coronary atherosclerosis (i.e., CAC score >400) are expected to help identify high-risk individuals for the primary prevention of CVD.⁹ Based on our findings, we estimate that 16 individuals need to be tested for Angiopoietin-related biomarker levels to accurately identify 1 additional case or non-case of severe coronary atherosclerosis.



In a recent study from the multinational CONFIRM (Coronary CT Angiography Evaluation for Clinical Outcomes: An International Multicenter) registry, persons with no history of atherosclerotic CVD and a CAC score >300 exhibited a risk of major adverse cardiovascular events (i.e., all-cause mortality, non-fatal myocardial infarction, or hospitalization for unstable angina) comparable to that of patients with previous atherosclerotic CVD.⁴⁹ In the context of CVD prevention, this finding underscores the importance of accurately identifying individuals with a high CAC score (e.g., CAC score >300, >400, or >1000) given their notably high risk of CVD.^{6,8,50} However, universal assessment of CAC score in the primary prevention population may not be feasible, cost-effective, or safe.⁵¹ In this sense, our new risk prediction models for severe coronary atherosclerosis may facilitate appropriate candidate selection for CAC score >400.

The 2018 American Heart Association (AHA)/American College of Cardiology (ACC) guideline on the management of blood cholesterol and 2019 ACC/AHA guideline on the primary prevention of CVD recommend deferral of statin therapy for individuals with an intermediate risk of atherosclerotic CVD (i.e., 10-year risk 7.5-<20%) who have a CAC score of 0.^{52,53} These recommendations are based on multiple pieces of evidence showing that the risk of CVD is considerably low in persons with a CAC score of 0, for whom the benefits of statin therapy may be limited.⁵⁴⁻⁵⁶ Although currently not endorsed by the guidelines, a recent study from the MESA (Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis) suggested that the evidence-based guidance for those with a CAC score of 0 would be to consider reassessing CAC score in 3 to 7 years, depending on individual demographics and risk profiles.⁵⁷ Although such "warranty period of zero" provides some reassurance for deferring statin therapy,^{57,58} this does not necessarily imply that individuals with a CAC



score of 0 require no risk surveillance until the reassessment of CAC score. Our Angiopoietin-based risk prediction models for coronary atherosclerosis (i.e., CAC score >0) may help fill this "surveillance gap" and could be employed to monitor individuals' risk of having a CAC score >0 during the period. The optimal methods and interval for monitoring, including the risk cut-off to guide CAC score reassessment, should be determined by further investigations.

3. Future perspectives

The findings of our subgroup analyses hinted at an increased predictive utility of Angiopoietin-related biomarkers for severe coronary atherosclerosis in higher-risk subgroups, including older adults (\geq 65 years), males, individuals with hypertension or diabetes, those on lipid-lowering drugs, and those with high 10-year atherosclerotic CVD risk. Although hypothesis-generating, these findings are biologically plausible given the roles of Angiopoietin-related biomarkers in maintaining vascular integrity and homeostasis.^{19,24} Indeed, previous studies have reported that the levels of Angiopoietin-related biomarkers of vascular endothelial dysfunction, such as myocardial ischemia,²⁵ cardiogenic shock,^{26,27} kidney failure,^{28,29} sepsis,^{30,31} and acute lung injury.^{32,33} Future studies should determine sociodemographic, lifestyle, clinical, and genetic factors associated with the efficacy of Angiopoietin-related biomarkers to maximize their clinical utility.

4. Study strengths and limitations

This study has several distinguishing features. First, to the best of our knowledge, this is the first study to evaluate the utility of Angiopoietin-related biomarkers for predicting the



risk of subclinical atherosclerosis. Second, we focused not only on the presence but also on the severity of subclinical atherosclerosis by investigating both coronary atherosclerosis (defined as CAC score >0) and severe coronary atherosclerosis (defined as CAC score >400). Third, the consistency of the results across secondary measures of subclinical atherosclerosis, including log-transformed CAC score, coronary atherosclerosis progression, and carotid atherosclerosis, further added robustness to our findings. Fourth, our integer risk scores for subclinical atherosclerosis are expected to accelerate the adoption of the study findings into real-world clinical practice.

Our findings should be interpreted in light of certain limitations. First, the sample size was relatively small, reducing the precision of the models' coefficients, performance metrics, and other relevant statistics. This was particularly notable in the holdout validation of the Angiopoietin-based risk prediction models for severe coronary atherosclerosis, where the number of cases was only 18 in the validation set. Second, we could not perform external validation of our risk prediction models. Due to the limited availability of assays for Angiopoietin-related biomarkers, validating these models in external cohorts is expected to be challenging. Third, our analyses were limited to coronary and carotid atherosclerosis. Future studies should investigate whether our findings also pertain to atherosclerosis in other regions, such as aorta or femoral artery.⁵⁹ Fourth, the CAC score only represents calcified coronary plaques and does not reflect the presence or extent of non-calcified plaques.^{60,61} However, CAC is a well-established surrogate of coronary heart disease and has been reported to have a strong and significant association with the risk of clinical CVD events.⁶⁻⁸ Fifth, we lacked data on clinical outcomes, including incident atherosclerotic CVD events. Continued follow-up of our biomarker subcohort may enable future exploration of the predictive utility of Angiopoietin-related biomarkers for clinical



CVD events. Sixth, the well-known adverse effects of tobacco smoking on subclinical atherosclerosis were not adequately represented in our risk prediction models,^{10,11,48} as indicated by a negative coefficient for current smoking. These findings are presumed to be data-driven; only 77 (8.3%) out of 924 participants were current smokers in our cohort, among whom the number of cases with severe coronary atherosclerosis and coronary atherosclerosis were 7 and 37, respectively. It should be noted that even among the total CMERC and CMERC-HI participants with available data, the smoking status (i.e., current, past, or never smoking) did not show a significant association with either severe coronary atherosclerosis or coronary atherosclerosis (Appendix 14, Appendix 15). Future studies should properly account for the effects of tobacco smoking in their investigation of the predictive utility of Angiopoietin-related biomarkers for subclinical atherosclerosis. Last, since the study cohort consisted entirely of Koreans, our findings may not be directly applicable to other ethnic and/or racial populations.



V. CONCLUSION

For the purpose of exploring Angiopoietin-related biomarkers, we constructed a biomarker subcohort within the CMERC and CMERC-HI cohorts. The Angiopoietin-related biomarkers showed a poor correlation with each other, had weak or no association with traditional risk factors, and demonstrated a strong, non-linear relationship with the risk of subclinical atherosclerosis. The biomarkers significantly improved risk discrimination and stratification for subclinical atherosclerosis when added to traditional risk factor-based models. The Angiopoietin-based subclinical atherosclerosis risk prediction models were developed and yielded promising performance in both internal and holdout validation. The integer risk scores for subclinical atherosclerosis were also developed and demonstrated satisfactory performance. The newly developed prediction models are expected to be utilized for identifying high-risk populations for the primary prevention of CVD and for surveilling individuals with a CAC score of 0. Whether Angiopoietin-related biomarkers can improve risk prediction for clinical CVD events needs to be determined in future studies.



REFERENCES

- GBD 2017 Causes of Death Collaborators. Global, regional, and national age-sexspecific mortality for 282 causes of death in 195 countries and territories, 1980-2017: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. Lancet 2018;392:1736-88.
- Statistics Korea. Causes of Death Statistics in 2021. Daejeon: Statistics Korea.
 2022.
- Lee HH, Cho SMJ, Lee H, Baek J, Bae JH, Chung WJ, Kim HC. Korea Heart Disease Fact Sheet 2020: Analysis of Nationwide Data. Korean Circ J 2021;51:495-503.
- Lee HH, Cho Y, Choi YJ, Huh BW, Lee BW, Kang ES, et al. Non-alcoholic steatohepatitis and progression of carotid atherosclerosis in patients with type 2 diabetes: a Korean cohort study. Cardiovasc Diabetol 2020;19:81.
- Kamtchum-Tatuene J, Saba L, Heldner MR, Poorthuis MHF, de Borst GJ, Rundek T, et al. Interleukin-6 Predicts Carotid Plaque Severity, Vulnerability, and Progression. Circ Res 2022;131:e22-e33.
- Detrano R, Guerci AD, Carr JJ, Bild DE, Burke G, Folsom AR, et al. Coronary calcium as a predictor of coronary events in four racial or ethnic groups. N Engl J Med 2008;358:1336-45.
- Carr JJ, Jacobs DR, Jr., Terry JG, Shay CM, Sidney S, Liu K, et al. Association of Coronary Artery Calcium in Adults Aged 32 to 46 Years With Incident Coronary Heart Disease and Death. JAMA Cardiol 2017;2:391-9.
- 8. Greenland P, LaBree L, Azen SP, Doherty TM, Detrano RC. Coronary artery calcium score combined with Framingham score for risk prediction in



asymptomatic individuals. JAMA 2004;291:210-5.

- Khetarpal SA, Honigberg MC, Natarajan P. Implications of Premature Coronary Artery Calcification in Primary and Secondary Prevention of Atherosclerotic Cardiovascular Disease. JAMA Cardiol 2021; doi:10.1001/jamacardio.2021.3393.
- Arafa A, Lee HH, Eshak ES, Shirai K, Liu K, Li J, et al. Modifiable Risk Factors for Cardiovascular Disease in Korea and Japan. Korean Circ J 2021;51:643-55.
- Johnson HM, Gossett LK, Piper ME, Aeschlimann SE, Korcarz CE, Baker TB, et al. Effects of smoking and smoking cessation on endothelial function: 1-year outcomes from a randomized clinical trial. J Am Coll Cardiol 2010;55:1988-95.
- Jensky NE, Criqui MH, Wright MC, Wassel CL, Brody SA, Allison MA. Blood pressure and vascular calcification. Hypertension 2010;55:990-7.
- Rossello X, Raposeiras-Roubin S, Oliva B, Sánchez-Cabo F, García-Ruíz JM, Caimari F, et al. Glycated Hemoglobin and Subclinical Atherosclerosis in People Without Diabetes. J Am Coll Cardiol 2021;77:2777-91.
- 14. Armstrong MK, Fraser BJ, Hartiala O, Buscot MJ, Juonala M, Wu F, et al. Association of Non-High-Density Lipoprotein Cholesterol Measured in Adolescence, Young Adulthood, and Mid-Adulthood With Coronary Artery Calcification Measured in Mid-Adulthood. JAMA Cardiol 2021;6:661-8.
- Raposeiras-Roubin S, Rosselló X, Oliva B, Fernández-Friera L, Mendiguren JM, Andrés V, et al. Triglycerides and Residual Atherosclerotic Risk. J Am Coll Cardiol 2021;77:3031-41.
- 16. Tyrrell DJ, Goldstein DR. Ageing and atherosclerosis: vascular intrinsic and extrinsic factors and potential role of IL-6. Nat Rev Cardiol 2021;18:58-68.
- 17. Meng LB, Shan MJ, Qiu Y, Qi R, Yu ZM, Guo P, et al. TPM2 as a potential



predictive biomarker for atherosclerosis. Aging (Albany NY) 2019;11:6960-82.

- Kim HC, Greenland P, Rossouw JE, Manson JE, Cochrane BB, Lasser NL, et al. Multimarker prediction of coronary heart disease risk: the Women's Health Initiative. J Am Coll Cardiol 2010;55:2080-91.
- Bilimoria J, Singh H. The Angiopoietin ligands and Tie receptors: potential diagnostic biomarkers of vascular disease. J Recept Signal Transduct Res 2019;39:187-93.
- 20. Dugani SB, Moorthy MV, Li C, Demler OV, Alsheikh-Ali AA, Ridker PM, et al. Association of Lipid, Inflammatory, and Metabolic Biomarkers With Age at Onset for Incident Coronary Heart Disease in Women. JAMA Cardiol 2021;6:437-47.
- Antonopoulos AS, Angelopoulos A, Papanikolaou P, Simantiris S, Oikonomou EK, Vamvakaris K, et al. Biomarkers of Vascular Inflammation for Cardiovascular Risk Prognostication: A Meta-Analysis. JACC Cardiovasc Imaging 2022;15:460-71.
- Kaiser Y, Daghem M, Tzolos E, Meah MN, Doris MK, Moss AJ, et al. Association of Lipoprotein(a) With Atherosclerotic Plaque Progression. J Am Coll Cardiol 2022;79:223-33.
- Balling M, Afzal S, Davey Smith G, Varbo A, Langsted A, Kamstrup PR, Nordestgaard BG. Elevated LDL Triglycerides and Atherosclerotic Risk. J Am Coll Cardiol 2023;81:136-52.
- Brindle NP, Saharinen P, Alitalo K. Signaling and functions of angiopoietin-1 in vascular protection. Circ Res 2006;98:1014-23.
- Sandhu R, Teichert-Kuliszewska K, Nag S, Proteau G, Robb MJ, Campbell AI, et al. Reciprocal regulation of angiopoietin-1 and angiopoietin-2 following myocardial infarction in the rat. Cardiovasc Res 2004;64:115-24.



- Link A, Pöss J, Rbah R, Barth C, Feth L, Selejan S, Böhm M. Circulating angiopoietins and cardiovascular mortality in cardiogenic shock. Eur Heart J 2013;34:1651-62.
- 27. Pöss J, Fuernau G, Denks D, Desch S, Eitel I, de Waha S, et al. Angiopoietin-2 in acute myocardial infarction complicated by cardiogenic shock--a biomarker substudy of the IABP-SHOCK II-Trial. Eur J Heart Fail 2015;17:1152-60.
- 28. Kümpers P, Hafer C, David S, Hecker H, Lukasz A, Fliser D, et al. Angiopoietin-2 in patients requiring renal replacement therapy in the ICU: relation to acute kidney injury, multiple organ dysfunction syndrome and outcome. Intensive Care Med 2010;36:462-70.
- David S, Kümpers P, Lukasz A, Fliser D, Martens-Lobenhoffer J, Bode-Böger SM, et al. Circulating angiopoietin-2 levels increase with progress of chronic kidney disease. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2010;25:2571-6.
- Ziegler T, Horstkotte J, Schwab C, Pfetsch V, Weinmann K, Dietzel S, et al. Angiopoietin 2 mediates microvascular and hemodynamic alterations in sepsis. J Clin Invest 2013;123:3436-45.
- 31. Ricciuto DR, dos Santos CC, Hawkes M, Toltl LJ, Conroy AL, Rajwans N, et al. Angiopoietin-1 and angiopoietin-2 as clinically informative prognostic biomarkers of morbidity and mortality in severe sepsis. Crit Care Med 2011;39:702-10.
- 32. Gallagher DC, Parikh SM, Balonov K, Miller A, Gautam S, Talmor D, Sukhatme VP. Circulating angiopoietin 2 correlates with mortality in a surgical population with acute lung injury/adult respiratory distress syndrome. Shock 2008;29:656-61.
- 33. Uchida T, Ito H, Yamamoto H, Ohno N, Asahara M, Yamada Y, et al. Elevated levels of angiopoietin-2 as a biomarker for respiratory failure after cardiac surgery.



J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth 2014;28:1293-301.

- 34. Shim JS, Song BM, Lee JH, Lee SW, Park JH, Choi DP, et al. Cohort Profile: The Cardiovascular and Metabolic Diseases Etiology Research Center Cohort in Korea. Yonsei Med J 2019;60:804-10.
- 35. Shim JS, Song BM, Lee JH, Lee SW, Park JH, Choi DP, et al. Cardiovascular and Metabolic Diseases Etiology Research Center (CMERC) cohort: study protocol and results of the first 3 years of enrollment. Epidemiol Health 2017;39:e2017016.
- Agatston AS, Janowitz WR, Hildner FJ, Zusmer NR, Viamonte M, Jr., Detrano R. Quantification of coronary artery calcium using ultrafast computed tomography. J Am Coll Cardiol 1990;15:827-32.
- 37. Jung KJ, Jang Y, Oh DJ, Oh BH, Lee SH, Park SW, et al. The ACC/AHA 2013 pooled cohort equations compared to a Korean Risk Prediction Model for atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease. Atherosclerosis 2015;242:367-75.
- 38. Goff DC, Jr., Lloyd-Jones DM, Bennett G, Coady S, D'Agostino RB, Gibbons R, et al. 2013 ACC/AHA guideline on the assessment of cardiovascular risk: a report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines. Circulation 2014;129:S49-73.
- 39. SCORE2 working group and ESC Cardiovascular risk collaboration. SCORE2 risk prediction algorithms: new models to estimate 10-year risk of cardiovascular disease in Europe. Eur Heart J 2021;42:2439-54.
- 40. Cook NR. Use and misuse of the receiver operating characteristic curve in risk prediction. Circulation 2007;115:928-35.
- 41. Zethelius B, Berglund L, Sundström J, Ingelsson E, Basu S, Larsson A, et al. Use of multiple biomarkers to improve the prediction of death from cardiovascular



causes. N Engl J Med 2008;358:2107-16.

- DeLong ER, DeLong DM, Clarke-Pearson DL. Comparing the areas under two or more correlated receiver operating characteristic curves: a nonparametric approach. Biometrics 1988;44:837-45.
- 43. Pencina MJ, D'Agostino RB, Sr., D'Agostino RB, Jr., Vasan RS. Evaluating the added predictive ability of a new marker: from area under the ROC curve to reclassification and beyond. Stat Med 2008;27:157-72; discussion 207-12.
- Levey AS, Stevens LA, Schmid CH, Zhang YL, Castro AF, 3rd, Feldman HI, et al. A new equation to estimate glomerular filtration rate. Ann Intern Med 2009;150:604-12.
- 45. Ridker PM, Buring JE, Rifai N, Cook NR. Development and validation of improved algorithms for the assessment of global cardiovascular risk in women: the Reynolds Risk Score. JAMA 2007;297:611-9.
- 46. Ridker PM, Paynter NP, Rifai N, Gaziano JM, Cook NR. C-reactive protein and parental history improve global cardiovascular risk prediction: the Reynolds Risk Score for men. Circulation 2008;118:2243-51, 4p following 51.
- 47. Ridker PM, Bhatt DL, Pradhan AD, Glynn RJ, MacFadyen JG, Nissen SE. Inflammation and cholesterol as predictors of cardiovascular events among patients receiving statin therapy: a collaborative analysis of three randomised trials. Lancet 2023;401:1293-301.
- 48. Ding N, Shah AM, Blaha MJ, Chang PP, Rosamond WD, Matsushita K. Cigarette Smoking, Cessation, and Risk of Heart Failure With Preserved and Reduced Ejection Fraction. J Am Coll Cardiol 2022;79:2298-305.
- 49. Budoff MJ, Kinninger A, Gransar H, Achenbach S, Al-Mallah M, Bax JJ, et al.



When Does a Calcium Score Equate to Secondary Prevention?: Insights From the Multinational CONFIRM Registry. JACC Cardiovasc Imaging 2023;16:1181-9.

- 50. Peng AW, Dardari ZA, Blumenthal RS, Dzaye O, Obisesan OH, Iftekhar Uddin SM, et al. Very High Coronary Artery Calcium (≥1000) and Association With Cardiovascular Disease Events, Non-Cardiovascular Disease Outcomes, and Mortality: Results From MESA. Circulation 2021;143:1571-83.
- Garg PK, Brown DL. Coronary Artery Calcium Screening-Data First. JAMA Intern Med 2023; doi:10.1001/jamainternmed.2023.3250.
- 52. Grundy SM, Stone NJ, Bailey AL, Beam C, Birtcher KK, Blumenthal RS, et al. 2018
 AHA/ACC/AACVPR/AAPA/ABC/ACPM/ADA/AGS/APhA/ASPC/NLA/PCNA Guideline on the Management of Blood Cholesterol: A Report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Clinical Practice Guidelines. J Am Coll Cardiol 2019;73:e285-e350.
- 53. Arnett DK, Blumenthal RS, Albert MA, Buroker AB, Goldberger ZD, Hahn EJ, et al. 2019 ACC/AHA Guideline on the Primary Prevention of Cardiovascular Disease: A Report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Clinical Practice Guidelines. Circulation 2019;140:e596-e646.
- 54. Blaha MJ, Cainzos-Achirica M, Greenland P, McEvoy JW, Blankstein R, Budoff MJ, et al. Role of Coronary Artery Calcium Score of Zero and Other Negative Risk Markers for Cardiovascular Disease: The Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis (MESA). Circulation 2016;133:849-58.
- 55. Agha AM, Pacor J, Grandhi GR, Mszar R, Khan SU, Parikh R, et al. The Prognostic



Value of CAC Zero Among Individuals Presenting With Chest Pain: A Meta-Analysis. JACC Cardiovasc Imaging 2022;15:1745-57.

- 56. Al Rifai M, Blaha MJ, Nambi V, Shea SJC, Michos ED, Blumenthal RS, et al. Determinants of Incident Atherosclerotic Cardiovascular Disease Events Among Those With Absent Coronary Artery Calcium: Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis. Circulation 2022;145:259-67.
- 57. Dzaye O, Dardari ZA, Cainzos-Achirica M, Blankstein R, Agatston AS, Duebgen M, et al. Warranty Period of a Calcium Score of Zero: Comprehensive Analysis From MESA. JACC Cardiovasc Imaging 2021;14:990-1002.
- Valenti V, B ÓH, Heo R, Cho I, Schulman-Marcus J, Gransar H, et al. A 15-Year Warranty Period for Asymptomatic Individuals Without Coronary Artery Calcium: A Prospective Follow-Up of 9,715 Individuals. JACC Cardiovasc Imaging 2015;8:900-9.
- 59. Nicolaides AN, Panayiotou AG, Griffin M, Tyllis T, Bond D, Georgiou N, et al. Arterial Ultrasound Testing to Predict Atherosclerotic Cardiovascular Events. J Am Coll Cardiol 2022;79:1969-82.
- Hollenberg EJ, Lin F, Blaha MJ, Budoff MJ, van den Hoogen IJ, Gianni U, et al. Relationship Between Coronary Artery Calcium and Atherosclerosis Progression Among Patients With Suspected Coronary Artery Disease. JACC Cardiovasc Imaging 2022;15:1063-74.
- 61. Wang X, Le EPV, Rajani NK, Hudson-Peacock NJ, Pavey H, Tarkin JM, et al. A zero coronary artery calcium score in patients with stable chest pain is associated with a good prognosis, despite risk of non-calcified plaques. Open Heart 2019;6:e000945.



APPENDICES

Appendix 1. Study flowchart for the secondary analysis

Appendix 2. Baseline characteristics of the included and excluded participants

Appendix 3. Improvement in risk stratification for severe coronary atherosclerosis across subgroups

Appendix 4. Improvement in risk stratification for coronary atherosclerosis across subgroups

Appendix 5. Improvement in model goodness of fit for log-transformed coronary artery calcium score

Appendix 6. Improvement in risk discrimination for coronary atherosclerosis progression

Appendix 7. Improvement in risk discrimination for severe coronary atherosclerosis using expanded definition of TRF

Appendix 8. Improvement in risk discrimination for coronary atherosclerosis using expanded definition of TRF

Appendix 9. Improvement in risk discrimination for severe coronary atherosclerosis among participants with eGFR ≥ 60

Appendix 10. Improvement in risk discrimination for coronary atherosclerosis among participants with eGFR ≥ 60

Appendix 11. Baseline characteristics of the participants in secondary biomarker subcohort

Appendix 12. Improvement in risk discrimination for carotid atherosclerosis

Appendix 13. Improvement in risk stratification for carotid atherosclerosis

Appendix 14. Association of smoking status with severe coronary atherosclerosis in primary biomarker subcohort and in total cohort

Appendix 15. Association of smoking status with coronary atherosclerosis in primary biomarker subcohort and in total cohort





Appendix 1. Study flowchart for the secondary analysis. CMERC, Cardiovascular and Metabolic Diseases Etiology Research Center; CMERC-HI, Cardiovascular and Metabolic Diseases Etiology Research Center High-Risk.



Appendix 2. Baseline characteristics of the included and excluded part	rticipants
--	------------

Variable	CM	ERC	CMERC-HI		
	Included	Excluded	Included	Excluded	
	(N=750)	(N=7,347)	(N=174)	(N=3,093)	
Age, years	55 [48-58]	53 [45-58]	59 [50-65]	61 [52-69]	
Female	488 (65.1)	4,801 (65.3)	71 (40.8)	1,402 (45.3)	
Current smoking	77 (10.3)	983 (13.4)	20 (11.5)	419 (13.6)	
Systolic BP, mm Hg	116 [108-126]	118 [108-128]	122 [114-132]	126 [116-136]	
Diastolic BP, mm Hg	74 [69-81]	75 [69-82]	75 [70-82]	76 [68-82]	
BP-lowering drug use	124 (16.5)	1,200 (16.3)	137 (78.7)	2,336 (75.5)	
Diabetes	40 (5.3)	586 (8.0)	70 (40.2)	1,325 (42.8)	
Total cholesterol, mg/dL	198 [171-221]	193 [171-217]	168 [144-188]	169 [146-195]	
HDL-cholesterol, mg/dL	55 [46-66]	54 [46-64]	48 [42-55]	47 [40-57]	
Lipid-lowering drug use	101 (13.5)	811 (11.0)	89 (51.1)	1,249 (40.4)	
10-year ASCVD risk, %					
<2.5	266 (35.5)	2,836 (38.6)	26 (14.9)	421 (13.6)	
2.5-<5	281 (37.5)	2,511 (34.2)	38 (21.8)	502 (16.2)	
5-<7.5	136 (18.1)	1,262 (17.2)	31 (17.8)	410 (13.3)	
7.5-<10	53 (7.1)	461 (6.3)	18 (10.3)	357 (11.5)	
≥10	14 (1.9)	277 (3.8)	61 (35.1)	1,404 (45.4)	

Values are presented as median [interquartile range] or number (%). ASCVD, atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease; BP, blood pressure; CMERC, Cardiovascular and Metabolic Diseases Etiology Research Center; CMERC-HI, Cardiovascular and Metabolic Diseases Etiology Research Center High-Risk; HDL, high-density lipoprotein.



Appendix 3. Improvement	in risk stratificatior	for severe coronar	y atherosclerosis across
subgroups			

Subgroup	Ν	cNRI (95% CI)*	IDI (95% CI)*
Age <65 years	601	0.61 (0.23 to 0.99)	0.101 (0.029 to 0.173)
Age ≥65 years	323	0.53 (0.21 to 0.85)	0.044 (0.009 to 0.080)
Female	559	0.61 (0.15 to 1.06)	0.038 (-0.001 to 0.077)
Male	365	0.58 (0.29 to 0.88)	0.089 (0.036 to 0.142)
Without hypertension	488	0.76 (0.33 to 1.19)	0.083 (0.003 to 0.164)
With hypertension	436	0.45 (0.14 to 0.75)	0.064 (0.021 to 0.106)
Without diabetes	756	0.56 (0.30 to 0.81)	0.054 (0.020 to 0.088)
With diabetes	168	0.35 (-0.05 to 0.76)	0.100 (0.024 to 0.175)
Not taking lipid-lowering drug	563	0.48 (0.16 to 0.79)	0.046 (0.008 to 0.084)
Taking lipid-lowering drug	361	0.61 (0.25 to 0.97)	0.076 (0.019 to 0.134)
Subcohort 1	750	0.71 (0.43 to 1.00)	0.064 (0.016 to 0.112)
Subcohort 2	174	0.72 (0.26 to 1.18)	0.068 (0.002 to 0.133)
10-year ASCVD risk <7.5%	554	1.20 (0.77 to 1.64)	0.091 (0.002 to 0.179)
10-year ASCVD risk 7.5-<10%	132	0.42 (-0.22 to 1.06)	0.010 (-0.048 to 0.068)
10-year ASCVD risk ≥10%	238	0.56 (0.23 to 0.88)	0.068 (0.021 to 0.115)

*Obtained after adding binary Angiopoietin-related biomarkers to the traditional risk factorbased models. ASCVD, atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease; CI, confidence interval; cNRI, continuous net reclassification improvement; IDI, integrated discrimination improvement.



Appendix 4. Improvement in risk stratification for coronary atherosclerosis across subgroups

0 1			
Subgroup	N	cNRI (95% CI)*	IDI (95% CI)*
Age <65 years	601	0.25 (0.08 to 0.42)	0.016 (0.005 to 0.026)
Age ≥65 years	323	0.30 (0.08 to 0.52)	0.051 (0.027 to 0.076)
Female	559	0.31 (0.13 to 0.49)	0.046 (0.027 to 0.065)
Male	365	0.23 (0.02 to 0.44)	0.010 (-0.001 to 0.022)
Without hypertension	488	0.35 (0.16 to 0.54)	0.025 (0.009 to 0.042)
With hypertension	436	0.29 (0.10 to 0.48)	0.036 (0.018 to 0.053)
Without diabetes	756	0.23 (0.09 to 0.38)	0.027 (0.015 to 0.039)
With diabetes	168	0.13 (-0.19 to 0.46)	0.021 (0.000 to 0.043)
Not taking lipid-lowering drug	563	0.39 (0.23 to 0.56)	0.023 (0.010 to 0.036)
Taking lipid-lowering drug	361	0.25 (0.05 to 0.46)	0.033 (0.015 to 0.052)
Subcohort 1	750	0.21 (0.07 to 0.36)	0.027 (0.015 to 0.040)
Subcohort 2	174	0.10 (-0.20 to 0.40)	0.018 (-0.001 to 0.036)
10-year ASCVD risk <2.5%	152	0.41 (-0.03 to 0.86)	0.061 (-0.005 to 0.127)
10-year ASCVD risk 2.5-<5%	203	0.39 (0.07 to 0.70)	0.026 (0.003 to 0.049)
10-year ASCVD risk >5%	569	0.22 (0.06 to 0.38)	0.037 (0.021 to 0.053)

*Obtained after adding binary Angiopoietin-related biomarkers to the traditional risk factorbased models. ASCVD, atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease; CI, confidence interval; cNRI, continuous net reclassification improvement; IDI, integrated discrimination improvement.



Biomarker form	Index	TRF model	TRF model + AGPT-2	TRF model + AGPT-1	TRF model + sTie-2	TRF model + AGPT-2 + AGPT-1 + sTie-2
Continuous	R ² (95% CI)	0.274	0.281	0.277	0.275	0.285
	ΔR^2		0.007	0.003	0.000	0.011
	(95% CI)		(0.000 to 0.020)	(-0.001 to 0.013)	(-0.001 to 0.007)	(0.001 to 0.023)

Appendix 5. Improvement in model goodness of fit for log-transformed coronary artery calcium score

AGPT-1, Angiopoietin-1; AGPT-2, Angiopoietin-2; CI, confidence interval; sTie-2, soluble tunica interna endothelial cell kinase 2; TRF, traditional risk factor.



Biomarker form	Index	TRF model	TRF model + AGPT-2	TRF model + AGPT-1	TRF model + sTie-2	TRF model + AGPT-2 + AGPT-1 + sTie-2
	C-index	0.719	0.718	0.713	0.726	0.732
Continuous	(95% CI)	(0.640 to 0.797)	(0.640 to 0.796)	(0.635 to 0.791)	(0.648 to 0.804)	(0.656 to 0.808)
Continuous	ΔC -index		-0.001	-0.006	0.007	0.014
	(95% CI)		(-0.014 to 0.010)	(-0.038 to 0.021)	(-0.024 to 0.035)	(-0.030 to 0.057)
	C-index	0.719	0.733	0.716	0.736	0.744
Binary	(95% CI)	(0.640 to 0.797)	(0.656 to 0.810)	(0.638 to 0.794)	(0.660 to 0.812)	(0.669 to 0.819)
	ΔC -index		0.014	-0.003	0.017	0.025
	(95% CI)		(-0.014 to 0.041)	(-0.028 to 0.023)	(-0.014 to 0.053)	(-0.019 to 0.069)

Appendix 6. Improvement in risk discrimination for coronary atherosclerosis progression

Only participants with available data on follow-up coronary artery calcium score (N=173) were included. AGPT-1, Angiopoietin-1; AGPT-2, Angiopoietin-2; CI, confidence interval; sTie-2, soluble tunica interna endothelial cell kinase 2; TRF, traditional risk factor.

56



				1	0 1	
Biomarker form	Index	Exp. TRF model	Exp. TRF model + AGPT-2	Exp. TRF model + AGPT-1	Exp. TRF model + sTie-2	Exp. TRF model + AGPT-2 + AGPT-1 + sTie-2
	C-index	0.845	0.851	0.848	0.845	0.856
Continuous	(95% CI)	(0.798 to 0.892)	(0.806 to 0.896)	(0.799 to 0.897)	(0.798 to 0.892)	(0.809 to 0.902)
Continuous	ΔC -index		0.006	0.003	0.000	0.011
	(95% CI)		(-0.007 to 0.017)	(-0.008 to 0.014)	(-0.002 to 0.002)	(-0.007 to 0.026)
	C-index	0.806	0.860	0.850	0.844	0.867
Dinom	(95% CI)	(0.777 to 0.834)	(0.819 to 0.902)	(0.801 to 0.899)	(0.797 to 0.892)	(0.823 to 0.910)
Dillaly	ΔC -index		0.016	0.005	0.000	0.022
	(95% CI)		(-0.001 to 0.033)	(-0.007 to 0.021)	(-0.001 to 0.000)	(0.002 to 0.041)

Appendix 7. Improvement in risk discrimination for severe coronary atherosclerosis using expanded definition of TRF

Expanded TRF model additionally included weekly minutes of moderate-to-vigorous physical activity, waist circumference, estimated glomerular filtration rate, and log-transformed high-sensitivity C-reactive protein. AGPT-1, Angiopoietin-1; AGPT-2, Angiopoietin-2; CI, confidence interval; sTie-2, soluble tunica interna endothelial cell kinase 2; TRF, traditional risk factor.

57



Appendix 8.	Improvement	t in risk discriminat	ion for coronary atl	nerosclerosis using	expanded definition	on of TRF
Biomarker form	Index	Exp. TRF model	Exp. TRF model + AGPT-2	Exp. TRF model + AGPT-1	Exp. TRF model + sTie-2	Exp. TRF model + AGPT-2 + AGPT-1 + sTie-2
	C-index	0.806	0.807	0.808	0.807	0.811
Continuous	(95% CI)	(0.777 to 0.834)	(0.778 to 0.835)	(0.780 to 0.837)	(0.779 to 0.835)	(0.783 to 0.839)
Continuous	ΔC -index		0.001	0.003	0.001	0.005
	(95% CI)		(-0.003 to 0.005)	(-0.001 to 0.006)	(-0.002 to 0.004)	(-0.001 to 0.012)
	C-index	0.806	0.807	0.809	0.811	0.817
Dinom	(95% CI)	(0.777 to 0.834)	(0.779 to 0.835)	(0.781 to 0.838)	(0.783 to 0.839)	(0.790 to 0.845)
Dillary	ΔC -index		0.001	0.004	0.005	0.011
	(95% CI)		(-0.003 to 0.005)	(-0.001 to 0.008)	(-0.001 to 0.012)	(0.002 to 0.022)

(95% CI) (-0.003 to 0.005) (-0.001 to 0.008) (-0.001 to 0.012) (0.002 to 0.022) Expanded TRF model additionally included weekly minutes of moderate-to-vigorous physical activity, waist circumference, estimated glomerular filtration rate, and log-transformed high-sensitivity C-reactive protein. AGPT-1, Angiopoietin-1; AGPT-2, Angiopoietin-2; CI, confidence interval; sTie-2, soluble tunica interna endothelial cell kinase 2; TRF, traditional

risk factor.



Biomarker form	Index	TRF model	TRF model + AGPT-2	TRF model + AGPT-1	TRF model + sTie-2	TRF model + AGPT-2 + AGPT-1 + sTie-2
	C-index	0.821	0.830	0.827	0.821	0.837
Continuous	(95% CI)	(0.770 to 0.872)	(0.782 to 0.879)	(0.776 to 0.877)	(0.770 to 0.872)	(0.788 to 0.885)
Continuous	ΔC -index		0.010	0.006	0.000	0.016
	(95% CI)		(-0.008 to 0.030)	(-0.003 to 0.016)	(-0.003 to 0.002)	(-0.004 to 0.040)
	C-index	0.821	0.844	0.827	0.822	0.849
Dinomy	(95% CI)	(0.770 to 0.872)	(0.801 to 0.888)	(0.773 to 0.880)	(0.771 to 0.873)	(0.803 to 0.895)
Billal y	ΔC -index		0.024	0.006	0.002	0.028
	(95% CI)		(-0.001 to 0.047)	(-0.006 to 0.026)	(-0.005 to 0.008)	(0.003 to 0.057)

Appendix 9. Improvement in risk discrimination for severe coronary atherosclerosis among participants with eGFR ≥ 60

AGPT-1, Angiopoietin-1; AGPT-2, Angiopoietin-2; CI, confidence interval; eGFR, estimated glomerular filtration rate; sTie-2, soluble tunica interna endothelial cell kinase 2; TRF, traditional risk factor.



Appendix 10	. Improvemen	nt in risk discrimina	ation for coronary a	therosclerosis amor	ng participants wit	h eGFR ≥60
Biomarker form	Index	TRF model	TRF model + AGPT-2	TRF model + AGPT-1	TRF model + sTie-2	TRF model + AGPT-2 + AGPT-1 + sTie-2
	C-index	0.784	0.786	0.786	0.786	0.792
Continuous	(95% CI)	(0.754 to 0.815)	(0.756 to 0.817)	(0.756 to 0.817)	(0.756 to 0.817)	(0.762 to 0.822)
Continuous	ΔC -index		0.002	0.002	0.002	0.008
	(95% CI)		(-0.003 to 0.007)	(-0.002 to 0.007)	(-0.002 to 0.007)	(0.000 to 0.016)
	C-index	0.784	0.787	0.789	0.791	0.799
Dinom	(95% CI)	(0.754 to 0.815)	(0.757 to 0.817)	(0.758 to 0.819)	(0.761 to 0.821)	(0.770 to 0.829)
Dillary	ΔC -index		0.003	0.004	0.007	0.015
	(95% CI)		(-0.003 to 0.008)	(-0.001 to 0.010)	(-0.001 to 0.015)	(0.004 to 0.027)

AGPT-1, Angiopoietin-1; AGPT-2, Angiopoietin-2; CI, confidence interval; eGFR, estimated glomerular filtration rate; sTie-2, soluble tunica interna endothelial cell kinase 2; TRF, traditional risk factor.



Variable	Secondary biomarker	Biomarker	Biomarker
	subcohort	subcohort 2.5	subcohort 3
	(N=772)	(N=201)	(N=571)
Age, years	56 [46-60]	58 [50-65]	55 [46-59]
Female	523 (67.7)	75 (37.3)	448 (78.5)
Current smoking	71 (9.2)	24 (11.9)	47 (8.2)
Systolic BP, mm Hg	118 [108-129]	123 [115-134]	115 [106-127]
Diastolic BP, mm Hg	73 [68-80]	75 [70-82]	72 [68-79]
BP-lowering drug use	253 (32.8)	158 (78.6)	95 (16.6)
Diabetes	121 (15.7)	77 (38.3)	44 (7.7)
Total cholesterol, mg/dL	190 [165-216]	167 [144-188]	199 [175-222]
HDL-cholesterol, mg/dL	55 [46-66]	48 [41-55]	58 [48-68]
Lipid-lowering drug use	175 (22.7)	96 (47.8)	79 (13.8)
10-year ASCVD risk, %			
<2.5	253 (32.8)	31 (15.4)	222 (38.9)
2.5-<5	233 (30.2)	45 (22.4)	188 (32.9)
5-<7.5	141 (18.3)	36 (17.9)	105 (18.4)
7.5-<10	55 (7.1)	22 (10.9)	33 (5.8)
≥10	90 (11.7)	67 (33.3)	23 (4.0)
Angiopoietin-2, ng/mL	1.8 [1.4-2.2]	1.8 [1.5-2.1]	1.8 [1.4-2.2]
Angiopoietin-1, ng/mL	45.3 [37.1-53.0]	39.0 [32.6-47.2]	47.1 [39.4-54.8]
Soluble Tie-2, ng/mL	11.9 [10.3-14.0]	10.6 [9.1-12.5]	12.3 [10.7-14.5]
Maximum cIMT, mm	0.78 [0.70-0.88]	0.92 [0.76-1.00]	0.76 [0.69-0.85]
Mean cIMT, mm	0.67 [0.60-0.76]	0.74 [0.62-0.93]	0.66 [0.59-0.74]

Appendix 11. Baseline characteristics of the participants in secondary biomarker subcond
--

Values are presented as median [interquartile range] or number (%). ASCVD, atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease; BP, blood pressure; cIMT, carotid intima-media thickness; HDL, high-density lipoprotein; Tie-2, tunica interna endothelial cell kinase 2.


Biomarker form	Index	TRF model	TRF model + AGPT-2	TRF model + AGPT-1	TRF model + sTie-2	TRF model + AGPT-2 + AGPT-1 + sTie-2
Continuous	C-index	0.765	0.768	0.770	0.767	0.776
	(95% CI)	(0.732 to 0.799)	(0.735 to 0.801)	(0.737 to 0.803)	(0.734 to 0.800)	(0.743 to 0.809)
	ΔC -index		0.003	0.005	0.002	0.011
	(95% CI)		(-0.002 to 0.007)	(-0.002 to 0.011)	(-0.003 to 0.007)	(0.001 to 0.021)
Binary	C-index	0.765	0.769	0.772	0.773	0.786
	(95% CI)	(0.732 to 0.799)	(0.736 to 0.802)	(0.739 to 0.804)	(0.741 to 0.806)	(0.754 to 0.818)
	ΔC -index		0.004	0.006	0.008	0.021
	(95% CI)		(-0.003 to 0.010)	(-0.004 to 0.017)	(-0.001 to 0.018)	(0.005 to 0.035)

Appendix 12. Improvement in risk discrimination for carotid atherosclerosis

AGPT-1, Angiopoietin-1; AGPT-2, Angiopoietin-2; CI, confidence interval; sTie-2, soluble tunica interna endothelial cell kinase 2; TRF, traditional risk factor.

62



	Added biomarker*						
Index	ACDT 2	ACDT 1	aTia 2	AGPT-2,			
	AGP1-2	AGP1-1	stie-2	AGPT-1, sTie-2			
cNRI	0.02	0.16	0.08	0.15			
(95% CI)	(-0.13 to 0.17)	(0.01 to 0.31)	(-0.07 to 0.23)	(0.00 to 0.30)			
IDI	0.002	0.004	0.002	0.010			
(95% CI)	(0.000 to 0.005)	(-0.001 to 0.008)	(-0.002 to 0.005)	(0.002 to 0.017)			
cNRI	0.21	0.38	0.14	0.44			
(95% CI)	(0.08 to 0.33)	(0.23 to 0.53)	(0.00 to 0.28)	(0.29 to 0.58)			
IDI	0.005	0.010	0.009	0.027			
(95% CI)	(0.000 to 0.009)	(0.002 to 0.019)	(0.001 to 0.016)	(0.014 to 0.040)			
	Index cNRI (95% CI) IDI (95% CI) cNRI (95% CI) IDI (95% CI)	Index AGPT-2 cNRI 0.02 (95% CI) (-0.13 to 0.17) IDI 0.002 (95% CI) (0.000 to 0.005) cNRI 0.21 (95% CI) (0.08 to 0.33) IDI 0.005 (95% CI) (0.000 to 0.009)	Index AdPT-2 AdPT-1 cNRI 0.02 0.16 (95% CI) (-0.13 to 0.17) (0.01 to 0.31) IDI 0.002 0.004 (95% CI) (0.000 to 0.005) (-0.001 to 0.008) cNRI 0.21 0.38 (95% CI) (0.08 to 0.33) (0.23 to 0.53) IDI 0.005 0.010 (95% CI) (0.000 to 0.009) (0.002 to 0.019)	Added biomarker* Index AGPT-2 AGPT-1 sTie-2 cNRI 0.02 0.16 0.08 (95% CI) (-0.13 to 0.17) (0.01 to 0.31) (-0.07 to 0.23) IDI 0.002 0.004 0.002 (95% CI) (0.000 to 0.005) (-0.001 to 0.008) (-0.002 to 0.005) cNRI 0.21 0.38 0.14 (95% CI) (0.08 to 0.33) (0.23 to 0.53) (0.00 to 0.28) IDI 0.005 0.010 0.009 (95% CI) (0.000 to 0.009) (0.002 to 0.019) (0.001 to 0.016)			

Appendix 13. Improvement in risk stratification for carotid atherosclerosis

*Added to the traditional risk factor-based model.

AGPT-1, Angiopoietin-1; AGPT-2, Angiopoietin-2; CI, confidence interval; cNRI, continuous net reclassification improvement; IDI, integrated discrimination improvement; sTie-2, soluble tunica interna endothelial cell kinase 2.



Variable	Odds ratio (95% confidence interval)				
	Biomarker subcohort	Total cohort [*]			
	(N=924)	(N=3,360)			
Smoking status					
Never	1.00 (reference)	1.00 (reference)			
Past	0.84 (0.40-1.76)	1.01 (0.73-1.38)			
Current	1.01 (0.36-2.80)	1.28 (0.87-1.88)			
Ln Age, z-score	2.46 (1.59-3.81)	1.76 (1.53-2.03)			
Female sex	0.20 (0.09-0.46)	0.44 (0.32-0.60)			
Ln SBP, z-score	1.16 (0.86-1.57)	1.22 (1.09-1.35)			
BP-lowering drug use	1.68 (0.91-3.10)	1.63 (1.26-2.10)			
Diabetes	2.76 (1.51-5.05)	2.17 (1.74-2.72)			
Ln TC, z-score	1.03 (0.75-1.41)	0.81 (0.72-0.92)			
Ln HDL-C, z-score	0.87 (0.63-1.20)	1.01 (0.90-1.14)			
Lipid-lowering drug use	1.23 (0.65-2.33)	1.04 (0.83-1.30)			

Appendix	14.	Association	of	smoking	status	with	severe	coronary	atherosclerosis	in
primary bio	omar	rker subcohor	rt a	nd in total	cohort					

Multivariable logistic regression models were used. *Total participants in CMERC and CMERC-HI with available data. BP, blood pressure; CMERC, Cardiovascular and Metabolic Diseases Etiology Research Center; CMERC-HI, Cardiovascular and Metabolic Diseases Etiology Research Center High-Risk; HDL-C, high-density lipoprotein cholesterol; SBP, systolic blood pressure; TC, total cholesterol.



Variable	Odds ratio (95% confidence interval)				
	Biomarker subcohort	Total cohort [*]			
	(N=924)	(N=3,360)			
Smoking status					
Never	1.00 (reference)	1.00 (reference)			
Past	1.31 (0.78-2.19)	1.16 (0.90-1.48)			
Current	1.01 (0.53-1.94)	1.34 (0.99-1.82)			
Ln Age, z-score	2.14 (1.78-2.58)	2.09 (1.90-2.29)			
Female sex	0.32 (0.20-0.51)	0.50 (0.39-0.63)			
Ln SBP, z-score	1.25 (1.06-1.47)	1.30 (1.20-1.41)			
BP-lowering drug use	1.67 (1.19-2.33)	1.59 (1.34-1.88)			
Diabetes	2.54 (1.68-3.85)	2.42 (2.03-2.87)			
Ln TC, z-score	1.01 (0.84-1.21)	0.94 (0.86-1.03)			
Ln HDL-C, z-score	0.80 (0.67-0.96)	0.91 (0.83-0.99)			
Lipid-lowering drug use	1.44 (1.00-2.08)	1.26 (1.07-1.49)			

Appendix 15. Association	of smoking status	with coronary	a the roscleros is	in primar	y
biomarker subcohort and in total cohort					

Multivariable logistic regression models were used. *Total participants in CMERC and CMERC-HI with available data. BP, blood pressure; CMERC, Cardiovascular and Metabolic Diseases Etiology Research Center; CMERC-HI, Cardiovascular and Metabolic Diseases Etiology Research Center High-Risk; HDL-C, high-density lipoprotein cholesterol; SBP, systolic blood pressure; TC, total cholesterol.



ABSTRACT (IN KOREAN)

새로운 바이오마커를 이용한 죽상경화증의 예측

<지도교수 김현창>

연세대학교 대학원 의학과

이 혁 희

서론: 안지오포이에틴-1은 혈관내피세포의 Tie-2 수용체와 결합하여 혈관의 안정성과 항상성을 증대하며, 안지오포이에틴-2는 위 작용을 억제한다. 이러한 분자생물학적 기전 상 안지오포이에틴-2, 안지오포이에틴-1 및 수용성 Tie-2는 죽상경화증 예측 바이오마커로 활용될 잠재력이 있다. 우리는 본 연구에서 (1) 안지오포이에틴 연관 바이오마커(안지오포이에틴-2, 안지오포이에틴-1 및 수용성 Tie-2) 연구를 위한 코호트를 구축하고, (2) 해당 바이오마커들의 기본 특성을 파악하며, (3) 해당 바이오마커들이 죽상경화증 위험도 예측에 도움이 될 수 있는지 확인하고, (4) 해당 바이오마커들을 활용한 죽상경화증 위험도 예측모형을 개발하고자 하였다.

연구방법: 2021년부터 2023년 사이 CMERC 및 CMERC-HI 코호트로부터 총 924명의 대상자가 모집되었으며, 검진을 통해 대상자들의 전통적 심혈관 위험인자(나이, 성별, 현재흡연, 수축기혈압, 혈압강하제 복용, 당뇨병, 총콜레스테롤, 고밀도지단백콜레스테롤 및 지질강하제 복용), 혈중 안지오포이에틴 연관 바이오마커 농도 및 관상동맥 석회화지수 등의 정보를 수집하였다. 죽상경화증은 중증 관상동맥 죽상경화증(관상동맥 석회화지수 >400)과 관상동맥 죽상경화증(관상동맥 석회화지수 >0)의 두 가지 지표로 정의되었다. 죽상경화증 예측 로지스틱 회귀모형의 성능은 C-지수, 호스머-레메쇼 카이제곱 통계치 및 일치도 그림 등의 방법으로 평가하였으며, 안지오포이에틴 연관 바이오마커에 의한 예측능 향상은 ΔC-지수, 연속형 순재분류향상 및 통합식별향상 등으로 평가하였다. 최종 개발된 죽상경화증 위험도 예측모형에 대해서는 내적 검증 및 홀드아웃 검증을 시행하였다.



연구결과: 총 924명의 대상자(나이 중위수, 62세; 60.5% 여성) 중 중증 관상동맥 죽상경화증은 60명(6.5%), 관상동맥 죽상경화증은 390명(42.2%) 에서 존재하였다. 안지오포이에틴 연관 바이오마커들은 서로 미약한 상관관계를 보였으며, 전통적 심혈관 위험인자와는 유의한 연관성을 보이지 않았다. 해당 바이오마커들은 전통적 심혈관 위험인자 기반 회귀모형의 중증 관상동맥 죽상경화증 위험도 예측력(ΔC-지수, 0.019-0.030; 연속형 순재분류향상, 0.46-0.53; 통합식별향상, 0.037-0.061)과 관상동맥 죽상경화증 위험도 예측력(ΔC-지수, 0.007-0.014; 연속형 순재분류향상, 0.18-0.20; 통합식별향상, 0.011-0.023)을 모두 향상시켰다. 최종 개발된 안지오포이에틴 기반 죽상경화증 위험도 예측모형은 내적 검증에서 우수한 식별력을 보였으며(C-지수 0.793-0.849), 홀드아웃 검증에서도 준수한 식별력을 보였다(C-지수 0.678-0.791). 일치도 그림 상 모형의 예측 위험도는 실제 위험도와 전반적으로 잘 일치하였다. 간편한 임상 적용을 위해 추가로 개발한 죽상경화증 위험도 점수 역시 좋은 식별력을 보였다(C-지수 0.790-0.837).

결론: 안지오포이에틴 연관 바이오마커들은 전통적 심혈관 위험인자 기반 회귀모형의 죽상경화증 위험도 예측력을 유의하게 향상시켰으며, 최종 개발된 안지오포이에틴 기반 죽상경화증 위험도 예측모형은 검증 결과 우수한 성능을 보였다. 본 연구에서 개발한 예측모형은 심혈관질환 일차예방을 위한 고위험 인구 선별 및 관상동맥 석회화지수 0인 대상자의 위험도 감시에 이용될 수 있을 것으로 기대된다. 안지오포이에틴 연관 바이오마커들이 임상 심혈관질환 사건 예측에도 활용될 수 있을지에 대해서는 추가적인 연구가 필요하다.

핵심되는 말: 안지오포이에틴; 죽상경화증; 관상동맥 석회화; 예측



PUBLICATION LIST

Lee HH, Cho Y, Choi YJ, Huh BW, Lee BW, Kang ES, et al. Non-Alcoholic Steatohepatitis and Progression of Carotid Atherosclerosis in Patients with Type 2 Diabetes: A Korean Cohort Study. Cardiovasc Diabetol 2020;19:81.

Lee I, Lee HH, Cho Y, Choi YJ, Huh BW, Lee BW, et al. Association between Serum Bilirubin and the Progression of Carotid Atherosclerosis in Type 2 Diabetes. J Lipid Atheroscler 2020;9:195-204.

Lee HH, Cho SMJ, Lee H, Baek J, Bae JH, Chung WJ, et al. Korea Heart Disease Fact Sheet 2020: Analysis of Nationwide Data. Korean Circ J 2021;51:495-503.

Lee HH, Lee H, Cho SMJ, Kim DW, Park S, Kim HC. On-Treatment Blood Pressure and Cardiovascular Outcomes in Adults with Hypertension and Left Ventricular Hypertrophy. J Am Coll Cardiol 2021;78:1485-95.

Lee HH, Lee H, Townsend RR, Kim DW, Park S, Kim HC. Cardiovascular Implications of the 2021 KDIGO Blood Pressure Guideline for Adults with Chronic Kidney Disease. J Am Coll Cardiol 2022;79:1675-86.

Lee HH, Lee H, Bhatt DL, Lee GB, Han J, Shin DW, et al. Smoking Habit Change after Cancer Diagnosis: Effect on Cardiovascular Risk. Eur Heart J 2023; doi:10.1093/eurheartj/ehad199.

Lee HH, Lee H, Bhatt DL, Kang D, Youn JC, Shin DW, et al. Changes in Physical Activity and Incident Cardiovascular Events in Cancer Survivors. Eur Heart J 2023;44:4997-5000.

Lee HH, Lee HA, Kim EJ, Kim HY, Kim HC, Ahn SH, et al. Metabolic Dysfunction-Associated Steatotic Liver Disease and Risk of Cardiovascular Disease. Gut 2023; doi:10.1136/gutjnl-2023-331003.